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the willful misconduct or gross negligence of such Indemnified Party. To the extent that the undertaking

to indemnify, pay and hold harmless set forth in the preceding sentence may be unenforceable because

it is in violation of any law or public policy, Debtor shall contribute. the maximum portion which it is

permitted to pay and satisfy under applicable law, to the payment and satisfaction of all matters

incurred by the Indemnified Parties. Any liabilItY,obligation, loss, damage, penalty, cost or expense

incurred by the Indemnified Parties shall be paid to the Indemnified Parties on demand, together with

interest thereon at the rate prescribed for in the Note from the date incurred by the Indemnified Parties

until paid by Debtor, be added to the Obligations and be secured by the Collateral. The provisions of and

undertakings and indemnifications set out in this Section 5.12 shall survive the satisfaction and payment

of the Obligations.

5.13 Representations and Warranties. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained

herein, each representation or warranty contained in this Agreement or any of the other Loan

Documents shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents

and the repayment of the Obligations.

5.14 Counterparts; Facsimiles. This Agreement may be executed in one or more

counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute one

and the same instrument. For purposes of this Agreement, facsimile signatures shall be deemed to be

original signatu res. In addition, if any of the pa rties sign facsimile copies of this Agreement, such copies

shall be deemed originals.

5.15 Conflict. To the extent that any provision or term of the Security Agreement or the

Note conflict with any provision or term herein, the term or provision of this Agreement shall govern.

5.16 Statute of Limitations. Until all Indebtedness shall have been paid in full and all

commitments by Secured Party to extend credit to Debtor have been terminated, the power of sale or

other disposition and all other rights, powers, privileges and remedies granted to Secured Party
hereunder shall continue to exist and may be exercised by Secured Party at any time and from time to

time irrespective of the fact that the Indebtedness or any part thereof may have become barred by any
statute of limitations, or that the personal liability of Debtor may have ceased, unless such liability shall

have ceased due to the payment in full of all Indebtedness secured hereunder.

tntentionotlv Blank

CBC06222012 Page 14

PLTFS00943 AA0251



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed as of the day and year first

above written.

DEBTOR:

KG INVESTMENTS, LLC

a Nevada lirnlted liability company

BY__ ~~~==~~~~~.-_
fA 'oGt l ) ·W p"fs~

Cr-MAIl ~ 11~ ~ mb~
Debtor's Address: 40 3 S. Dean Martin Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89103

If Debtor is an entity created by filing, state of
organization and state organization number:

NV #NV20041262524

CBC06222012

SECURED PARTY:

CBe PARTNERS I, LLC, a Washington limited liability

company

Otter, Authorized Representative

Secured Party's Address: 305 loath Ave NE, Suite

101

Bellevue, WA 98004

Page 15
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Page 1
·1· · · · · · · · · · · ·DISTRICT COURT

·2· · · · · · · · · · CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

·3

·4· SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION· ·) Case No.:· A-20-813439-B
· · COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited)
·5· Liability Company; SJC· · · · ) Dept. No.:· 11
· · VENTURES HOLDING COMPANY, LLC,)
·6· d/b/a SJC VENTURES, LLC, a· · )
· · Delaware Limited Liability· · )
·7· Company,· · · · · · · · · · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·8· · · · · · · ·Plaintiffs,· · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
·9· vs.· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
10· CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a· · · · )
· · foreign Limited Liability· · ·)
11· Company; et al.,· · · · · · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
12· · · · · · · ·Defendants.· · · )
· · ______________________________)
13· (Complete caption on Page 2.· )

14

15

16· · · · · VIDEORECORDED VIDEOCONFERENCE DEPOSITION

17· · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·OF

18· · · · · · · · · · · · KENNETH ANTOS

19· · Taken on Wednesday, September 23, 2020, at 9:13 a.m.

20· · By a Certified Court Reporter and Legal Videographer

21· · · · · · · · Remotely in Las Vegas, Nevada

22

23

24· Reported by:· Dawn Bratcher Gustin, CCR 253, RPR, CRR
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · California CSR 7124
25· Job No. 42175A

AA0254
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·1· · · · · · · · · · · ·DISTRICT COURT
·2· · · · · · · · · · CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
·3
· · SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION· ·) Case No.: A-20-813439-B
·4· COMPANY, LLC, a Nevada Limited)
· · Liability Company; SJC· · · · ) Dept. No.: 11
·5· VENTURES HOLDING COMPANY, LLC,)
· · d/b/a SJC VENTURES, LLC, a· · )
·6· Delaware Limited Liability· · )
· · Company,· · · · · · · · · · · )
·7· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
· · · Plaintiffs,· · · · · · · · ·)
·8· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
· · vs.· · · · · · · · · · · · · ·)
·9· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
· · CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a· · · · )
10· foreign Limited Liability· · ·)
· · Company; CBC PARTNERS, LLC,· ·)
11· a foreign Limited Liability· ·)
· · Company; 5148 SPANISH· · · · ·)
12· HEIGHTS, LLC, a Nevada· · · · )
· · Limited Liability Company;· · )
13· KENNETH ANTOS AND SHEILA· · · )
· · NEUMANN-ANTOS, as Trustees· · )
14· of the Kenneth & Sheila· · · ·)
· · Antos Living Trust and the· · )
15· Kenneth M. Antos & Sheila· · ·)
· · M. Neumann-Antos Trust;· · · ·)
16· DACIA, LLC, a foreign· · · · ·)
· · Limited Liability Company;· · )
17· DOES I through X; and ROE· · ·)
· · CORPORATIONS I through X,· · ·)
18· inclusive,· · · · · · · · · · )
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · )
19· · Defendants.· · · · · · · · ·)
· · ______________________________)
20
21
22
23
24
25

3

·1· APPEARANCES:
· · (All parties appearing remotely)
·2
· · For the Plaintiffs:
·3
· · · · · · ·DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ.
·4· · · · · ·MAIER GUTIERREZ & ASSOCIATES
· · · · · · ·8816 Spanish Ridge Avenue
·5· · · · · ·Las Vegas, Nevada· 89148
· · · · · · ·djb@mgalaw.com
·6
·7
· · For the Defendants CBC Partners I, LLC, CBC Partners,
·8· LLC, 5148 Spanish Heights, LLC, and Dacia, LLC:
·9· · · · · ·MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ.
· · · · · · ·MUSHKIN & COPPEDGE
10· · · · · ·6070 South Eastern Avenue
· · · · · · ·Suite 270
11· · · · · ·Las Vegas, Nevada· 89119
· · · · · · ·michael@mccnvlaw.com
12
13
· · The Videographer:
14
· · · · · · ·JOHNNY RANDALL
15
16
· · Also Present:
17
· · · · · · ·JAY BLOOM
18· · · · · ·SHEILA NEUMANN-ANTOS
19
20· · · · · · · · · · · ·* * * * * * * *
21
22
23
24
25
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·3· KENNETH ANTOS
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·5
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·1· · · · · · · · · ·P R O C E E D I N G S

·2· · · · · ·THE VIDEOGRAPHER:· Good morning.· Today is

·3· Wednesday, September 23rd, 2020.· The time is

·4· approximately 9:13 a.m.

·5· · · · · ·This is the remote deposition of Kenneth Antos

·6· in the case of Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, LLC,

·7· et al, vs. CBC Partners I, LLC, et al.

·8· · · · · ·I'm Johnny Randall with Oasis Reporting

·9· Services.· I will be monitoring the proceedings and

10· recording both video and audio today.

11· · · · · ·At this time I will ask counsel to identify

12· themselves, state whom they represent, and agree on the

13· record that there is no objection to the court reporter

14· administering a binding oath to the witness through

15· remote videoconferencing.· If no objection is stated, we

16· will proceed forward with all counsel.· We'll begin the

17· appearances with the noticing attorney.

18· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Good morning.· Danielle Barraza

19· on behalf of the plaintiffs, and we have no objection.

20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Good morning.· Michael Mushkin on

21· behalf of defendants, and we have no objection.

22· · · · · ·(Witness sworn.)

23· · · · · · · · · · · KENNETH M. ANTOS,

24· · · · · · · ·having been first duly sworn, was

25· · · · · · · ·examined and testified as follows:

7

·1· · · · · · · · · · · · EXAMINATION
·2· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·3· · · Q.· ·Good morning, Mr. Antos.· Can you hear me okay?
·4· · · A.· ·Yes, I can.
·5· · · Q.· ·All right.· Can you please state and spell your
·6· name for the record.
·7· · · A.· ·It's Kenneth, K-e-n-n-e-t-h, Antos, A-n-t-o-s.
·8· · · Q.· ·And have you had your deposition taken before?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · Q.· ·How many times, approximately?
11· · · A.· ·I have no idea.· Fifteen or 20.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What was the last time you had your
13· deposition taken?
14· · · A.· ·Maybe a year ago.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So I'm going to just go over -- it
16· sounds like you're probably familiar with all the ground
17· rules, but just to make sure we're all on the same page,
18· I'm going to go over some of those right now.
19· · · · · ·The oath that you just took is the same oath
20· that you would take in a court of law.· Do you
21· understand that?
22· · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · Q.· ·Which subjects you to the same penalties of
24· perjury just as if you were to be subjected to in a
25· court of law.

8

·1· · · · · ·Do you understand that?

·2· · · A.· ·Yes.
·3· · · Q.· ·I'm going to ask that you wait for me to finish

·4· my question before going into your answer, and I'm also

·5· going to try to wait for you to completely finish

·6· whatever answer you're giving before going on to my next

·7· question.· Okay?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.
·9· · · Q.· ·So from time to time, your counsel is going to

10· be lodging objections to the questions.· So we'd ask

11· that unless you're specifically instructed not to answer

12· the question, still do answer the question after the

13· objection has been put on the record.· Okay?

14· · · A.· ·Okay.
15· · · Q.· ·Is there any reason why you won't be able to

16· give me full, complete, and truthful answers to the

17· questions today?

18· · · A.· ·No.
19· · · Q.· ·All right.· What is your current home address?

20· · · A.· ·11512 Belmont Lake Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada
21· 89135.
22· · · Q.· ·Can you give just a brief general overview of

23· your educational background.

24· · · A.· ·I have a -- starting from a master's degree in
25· business administration and an undergraduate degree in

9

·1· accounting and finance.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And where did you get those degrees

·3· from?

·4· · · A.· ·Syracuse University for the undergraduate and
·5· State University of New York at Binghamton for the
·6· master's.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if you could give just a very

·8· general, brief --

·9· · · · · ·(Interruption by cell phone.)

10· BY MS. BARRAZA:

11· · · Q.· ·Apologies for that.

12· · · · · ·-- very general, brief overview of your work

13· history, just very brief.

14· · · A.· ·I started as a -- being an accountant for the
15· Wards Company, which being Circuit City, and I became
16· the president of Circuit City, everything west of the
17· Mississippi, about 3 billion-dollar entity.· And
18· subsequent to that, I went into my own businesses.
19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· As far as what kind of businesses have

20· you been getting into?· Like, the restaurant business?

21· What kind of businesses?

22· · · A.· ·In terms of the restaurant business, I was -- I
23· deal with Walmart.· I had a master agreement, master
24· lease agreement, with Walmart, and I introduced Subway
25· to Walmart.· But anyplace there's a Subway, it's a

AA0256
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·1· result of that contract, inside Walmart in approximately
·2· 1,800 locations.· And subsequent to that, I went into
·3· the restaurant business and opened up a series of
·4· restaurants.
·5· · · Q.· ·Here in Las Vegas?
·6· · · A.· ·All over.· They were -- they were in different
·7· states.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Have you ever been convicted of any
·9· felonies?
10· · · A.· ·No.
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And have you ever been charged with any
12· crimes related to dishonesty?
13· · · A.· ·No.
14· · · Q.· ·And what did you do -- actually, when did you
15· first learn that you were going to be deposed in this
16· matter?
17· · · A.· ·Within the past month.
18· · · Q.· ·All right.· And what have you -- have you
19· reviewed any documents in preparation for providing
20· deposition testimony today?
21· · · A.· ·Very --
22· · · Q.· ·All right.· What documents do you recall
23· reviewing?
24· · · A.· ·The -- I just don't remember without looking --
25· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- back through the main file.
·2· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· How many -- approximately, how many
·4· pages worth of documents would you say you reviewed in
·5· preparation for your deposition today?
·6· · · A.· ·Probably 30.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· And you have -- as you sit
·8· here today, you have no recollection of anything you
·9· actually reviewed; is that correct?
10· · · A.· ·Well, I don't know the titles.· You asked me
11· the titles.· I don't know.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So what's the substance of what you
13· reviewed?
14· · · A.· ·Some of the stuff was -- had to do with
15· Mr. Bloom's engagement as a -- as the manager of the
16· entity that was -- is leasing from -- the house that
17· was -- is in question.· Some are the responsibilities of
18· Mr. Bloom as it pertains to that property.
19· · · Q.· ·Anything else?
20· · · A.· ·That's all I can remember.
21· · · Q.· ·And besides your attorney and your wife, have
22· you spoken with anybody else regarding this litigation?
23· · · A.· ·Over what period of time?
24· · · Q.· ·Over the past -- throughout this year.
25· · · A.· ·Throughout this year?
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·1· · · Q.· ·Yes.
·2· · · A.· ·I spoke to one person.
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Who did you speak to?
·4· · · A.· ·Alan Hallberg.
·5· · · Q.· ·And who is he?
·6· · · A.· ·Alan Hallberg owns the third -- as far as I
·7· know owns the third position on my -- on the residence
·8· that's in question.
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When did you speak with Alan?
10· · · A.· ·Probably a couple months ago.
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And what were you guys talking about?
12· · · A.· ·Some information I needed regarding the
13· occupancy of the -- of the property by the --
14· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- the occupancy of the property
16· by Mr. Bloom.
17· BY MS. BARRAZA:
18· · · Q.· ·And you're saying this is information you
19· needed?
20· · · A.· ·Yes.
21· · · Q.· ·And why did you need this information?
22· · · A.· ·I wanted to know what was happening.· I had
23· very little information.
24· · · Q.· ·And you were trying to figure out who was
25· occupying the residence; is that correct?
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·1· · · A.· ·I know who was occupying the residence.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.
·3· · · A.· ·I wanted to know what the -- what the
·4· conditions of that occupancy were.
·5· · · Q.· ·You're saying you want to know also the
·6· condition of the property; is that what you're saying?
·7· · · A.· ·No.· I needed to know the technicalities of
·8· what are the rights of the occupant --
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.
10· · · A.· ·-- if determined --
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And why did you want to know that?· Why
12· were you investigating that?
13· · · A.· ·Well, because we're here at this deposition,
14· and so I wanted to understand it a little better.
15· · · Q.· ·Did you speak to Alan prior to going -- making
16· your appearance at court and providing testimony in
17· court in this matter in April of this year?
18· · · A.· ·I haven't seen Alan in a couple years.
19· · · Q.· ·I'm saying did you speak to him before that?
20· · · A.· ·I speak to him regularly.· Probably every six
21· months or so.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· When was the last time you spoke to him?
23· · · A.· ·Well, as I said, a couple months ago.
24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And was it before or after you provided
25· testimony to this court for this matter?
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·1· · · A.· ·I really don't recall.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So we'll come back to that, but moving

·3· on a little bit, as we kind of touched on, this

·4· litigation involves the property located at 5148 Spanish

·5· Heights Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89148.· Are you

·6· comfortable with me just generally referring to that as

·7· "the property" throughout this deposition?

·8· · · A.· ·Yes.
·9· · · Q.· ·And you formerly owned that property; correct?

10· · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · Q.· ·And you formerly resided there; correct?

12· · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · Q.· ·All right.· And just to clarify, I am the

14· counsel for the plaintiffs, which is Spanish Heights

15· Acquisition Company, LLC, commonly known as "SHAC," and

16· also SJC Ventures -- Ventures Holding Company, LLC, and

17· also Jay Bloom.· And I'll represent to you that Spanish

18· Heights Acquisition Company, or SHAC, is the current

19· owner of record of that property.

20· · · · · ·Do you understand that?

21· · · A.· ·I'm not aware of exactly who that is.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're unaware of who owns the property

23· according to the property records?

24· · · A.· ·No.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· So you're being deposed
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·1· because the -- you and Sheila Antos have been named as
·2· defendants in your capacities as trustees of the Kenneth
·3· and Sheila Antos Living Trust and the Kenneth M. Antos
·4· and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos Trust.
·5· · · · · ·Do you understand that?
·6· · · A.· ·Yes.
·7· · · Q.· ·All right.· And so you -- that's in your
·8· capacity as you've been named as defendants.
·9· Additionally, the trust has asserted counterclaims
10· against SJC.
11· · · · · ·Are you aware that?
12· · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So tell me about those counterclaims.
14· Why is the trust suing SJC Ventures?
15· · · A.· ·As far as I know, it's to get Mr. Bloom to
16· vacate the property.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So the Trust is suing SJC to try to get
18· Mr. Bloom to vacate the property?
19· · · A.· ·Correct.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you know what -- what the basis of
21· the lawsuit -- of the counterclaims are?· What are the
22· causes of action?
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
24· conclusion.
25· · · · · ·Please answer, if you can.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I -- I don't know all the detail.
·2· I'm very sketchy on it.
·3· BY MS. BARRAZA:

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Have you personally reviewed the

·5· counterclaim that the trust has asserted against SJC

·6· Ventures?

·7· · · A.· ·Some parts, probably.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have a personal recollection of

·9· that?

10· · · A.· ·I have a recollection of the reasons for
11· default against the agreement by Mr. Bloom.
12· · · Q.· ·You're saying "the reasons for default"?

13· · · A.· ·Yes.
14· · · Q.· ·So what's your understanding of the reasons for

15· default?

16· · · A.· ·There are certain aspects that Mr. Bloom wants
17· to accomplish based on the agreement that he had, which
18· have not been, to my knowledge, achieved.
19· · · Q.· ·When you say "agreement," are you referring to

20· the forbearance agreement?

21· · · A.· ·I'm -- don't know if it's in the forbearance
22· agreement or any -- as one of the other agreements.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· So I'll represent to you

24· that one of the causes of action that the trust is

25· asserting against SJC is a breach of contract claim.
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·1· · · · · ·Are you familiar with that?
·2· · · A.· ·To a degree.
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What's your understanding of that breach
·4· of contract claim?
·5· · · A.· ·That Mr. Bloom is in breach of contract for a
·6· variety of nonachieving of commitments that he made in
·7· writing, and so he has not fulfilled the obligations he
·8· had under those terms.
·9· · · Q.· ·And when you're saying he's "in breach of the
10· contract," breach of what contract?
11· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Asked and answered.
12· BY MS. BARRAZA:
13· · · Q.· ·So breach of what contract?
14· · · A.· ·I don't believe I said "breach."· I said
15· default.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Understanding that.· So default of what
17· contract?
18· · · A.· ·Contract to -- regarding the forbearance and
19· the acquisition of the property.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And -- all right.· If I told you that
21· the counterclaim for breach of contract is based on an
22· alleged breach of the SHAC operating agreement, would
23· that surprise you?
24· · · A.· ·I don't know what that means.
25· · · Q.· ·Do -- are you aware of what the SHAC operating
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·1· agreement is?
·2· · · A.· ·I've seen very little documents from SHAC, if
·3· any.
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you recall signing off on an
·5· operating agreement, a SHAC operating agreement?
·6· · · A.· ·I don't recall.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you personally have any
·8· recollection of looking at the SHAC operating agreement
·9· recently?
10· · · A.· ·No.
11· · · Q.· ·All right.· Now, is the trust claiming to have
12· any interest in SHAC at this time?
13· · · A.· ·I'm not really familiar with how it went
14· together.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· To your knowledge, is the trust claiming
16· to have any interest in SHAC?
17· · · A.· ·I really don't know.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Are you personally claiming to have any
19· interest in SHAC, the company?
20· · · A.· ·I have no idea whether I have interest or don't
21· have interest.· Those --
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you recall ever signing any document
23· that says the trust was transferring its interest in
24· SHAC to another entity?
25· · · A.· ·I don't recall.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You don't recall doing that?
·2· · · · · ·Do you recall ever claiming to have held any
·3· interest in SHAC at any time?
·4· · · A.· ·No.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You don't recall the trust ever having,
·6· like, a 49 percent interest in SHAC?
·7· · · A.· ·I remember seeing that somewhere.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you do have a recollection of the
·9· trust claiming to have an interest in SHAC at some
10· point?
11· · · A.· ·I read somewhere that there was an interest,
12· but I -- I don't know what the details are.
13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And as you sit here today, you have no
14· idea who SHAC attempted to tran- -- I mean -- I'm
15· sorry -- who the trust attempted to transfer its
16· interest in SHAC to; correct?
17· · · A.· ·I'm not aware of it.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And as you sit here today, you're not
19· aware of the trust receiving any kind of monetary
20· consideration in return for transferring any kind of
21· interest in SHAC; correct?
22· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
23· conclusion.
24· · · · · ·You may answer the question, if you can.
25· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I've never received anything in
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·1· lieu of -- of -- for signing anything.· I have never.
·2· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, let's turn to -- if we can go to
·4· Exhibit 18.· And tell me whenever you're there.
·5· · · · · ·(Exhibit 18 was marked for the
·6· · · · · ·record.)
·7· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm here.
·8· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Is the first page that you're looking
10· at, does it say "Forbearance Agreement" at the top?
11· · · A.· ·Yes, it does.
12· · · Q.· ·And at the bottom, do you see at the bottom
13· there's page numbers?
14· · · A.· ·Yes.
15· · · Q.· ·Does it say 5148SH 0001?
16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· So that's -- I'll represent
18· to you that this is a compilation of documents
19· consisting of what's been disclosed as the Forbearance
20· Agreement and other related agreements and documents.
21· · · · · ·I want to turn your attention to -- as you can
22· see the page numbers on the bottom right-hand corner; so
23· I want you to go to page 34, if you can do that.
24· · · A.· ·Okay.· Okay.
25· · · Q.· ·All right.· And so this document, do you
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·1· recognize what this document is with page 34 at the
·2· bottom?
·3· · · A.· ·I see what it is.
·4· · · Q.· ·Do you recognize it as the Limited Liability
·5· Company Agreement of Spanish Heights Acquisition
·6· Company, LLC?
·7· · · A.· ·I haven't read through it; so I -- I see the
·8· title.
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then do you see the first paragraph?
10· It references that it's a limited liability agreement of
11· Spanish Heights Acquisition Company, and it does
12· reference the "Antos, Kenneth and Sheila Living Trust,
13· Kenneth M. Antos, Sheila M. Neumann-Antos Trust as
14· trustees hereinafter referred to as the 'Seller' or the
15· 'Seller Member.'"
16· · · · · ·Do you see that?
17· · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I want you to turn to -- well, let
19· me just ask you this:· Do you recognize this document as
20· the SHAC operating agreement?
21· · · A.· ·No, I -- I mean, it's been a while since I've
22· looked at any of this stuff.· So I --
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Counsel, just for the record,
24· this is not an executed copy.
25· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· So I'm seeing a signature on page
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·1· 78.
·2· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I'm on page 62.· It has no
·3· signature.· That's the page there.· We'll go to 78.
·4· · · · · ·This looks like an executed copy of B-10.
·5· Let's see what the other one was.
·6· · · · · ·Would you mind taking a look at 62 and 78.
·7· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· I'm seeing that, but I'm seeing a
·8· signature on 78.
·9· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Oh, no.· I don't dispute that,
10· but I -- I'm -- it appears that 62 is the execution page
11· for the operating agreement.· I fully acknowledge that
12· the documents are what they are.· I just wanted to point
13· out that it's a different header than -- I believe that
14· what you're pointing to is the execution of something --
15· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Of Exhibit A.· Of Exhibit A to
16· the operating agreement.
17· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Right.· It's something titled
18· on --
19· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· 63.
20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Sorry.· 69, "Exhibit B" --
21· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· B.
22· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· -- "to Forbearance Agreement"
23· starting at B-1, and it looks like the execution page is
24· B-10 for that agreement --
25· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Uh-huh.
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·1· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· -- but that the operating
·2· agreement itself, the reference, at least the copy here,
·3· is not executed.
·4· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.· Understanding that.
·5· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·6· · · Q.· ·So getting back to the question, regardless of
·7· this not being an executed version of the operating
·8· agreement, do you recognize this as the SHAC operating
·9· agreement?· Do you have any -- do you recognize that?
10· · · A.· ·I recall signing this.· You had asked me what
11· it is.· I have no idea at this point.· It's been a
12· while.
13· · · Q.· ·All right.· And you mentioned that you don't
14· recall looking at this in a while; is that correct?
15· · · A.· ·That's correct.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· Well, I'll turn -- and you
17· did recall signing this.· So I'm going to turn your
18· attention to page 6- -- actually, page 59, if you can go
19· there.
20· · · A.· ·Okay.
21· · · Q.· ·And do you see where it references "Dispute
22· Resolution" on Section 12.05?
23· · · A.· ·I see the heading, yes.
24· · · Q.· ·All right.· Now, can you read for me into the
25· record that first sentence under "Dispute Resolution."
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·1· · · A.· ·"In the event of a failure to reasonably
·2· · · · · ·resolve any issues among any of the parties or
·3· · · · · ·their owners, assigns, or successors, the
·4· · · · · ·dispute of those parties will be referred to
·5· · · · · ·binding arbitration for resolution thereof, and
·6· · · · · ·such party waives any right to litigation in
·7· · · · · ·favor of such resolution through binding
·8· · · · · ·arbitration."
·9· · · Q.· ·Now, what does that sentence mean to you?
10· · · A.· ·It means if there's an issue, that we get
11· together and resolve it.
12· · · Q.· ·An issue with respect to the operating
13· agreement; correct?
14· · · A.· ·I don't know if it's the operating agreement or
15· the forbearance agreement.· I'm not sure.
16· · · Q.· ·All right.· And you're saying if there's an
17· issue, we get together and resolve it.· Now, it
18· specifically states get together with respect to binding
19· arbitration.
20· · · · · ·Do you understand that?
21· · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · Q.· ·Now, do you understand binding arbitration is
23· different from going to court and doing litigation with
24· the court system?
25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so do you understand that by the
·2· trust asserting a counterclaim against SJC for an
·3· alleged breach of the operating agreement, that's going
·4· against this dispute resolution clause which says it
·5· needs to go through arbitration?
·6· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
·7· conclusion and assumes facts not in evidence.
·8· · · · · ·You can answer the question, if you can.
·9· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I can't -- I can't answer.
10· BY MS. BARRAZA:
11· · · Q.· ·So do you have any understanding as to how this
12· dispute resolution clause comes into play with respect
13· to your counterclaims?
14· · · A.· ·I believe, but I'm not sure.
15· · · Q.· ·What do you believe?
16· · · A.· ·That based on other ancillary activities not
17· accomplished, that it bypasses this.
18· · · Q.· ·Sorry.· I didn't catch the last part of what
19· you said.
20· · · A.· ·I don't believe this applies since Mr. Bloom
21· did not achieve commitments he made under the
22· forbearance agreements.
23· · · Q.· ·So you're saying because of alleged breaches of
24· the forbearance agreement, the -- certain sections of
25· the op- -- the SHAC operating agreement should not
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·1· apply; is that correct?
·2· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Again, objection.· Calls for a
·3· legal conclusion.· And the witness has answered your
·4· question, Counsel.
·5· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·6· · · Q.· ·You can answer.
·7· · · A.· ·I'm saying that, first off, it was -- he has
·8· defaulted on the forbearance agreements, and as far as
·9· I'm understanding -- I don't understand a lot about
10· this -- the -- the -- that supersedes what -- what's
11· called for here.
12· · · Q.· ·All right.· Can you turn to page 60 of the --
13· that Exhibit 18.
14· · · A.· ·Hold on.
15· · · Q.· ·And I'm going to represent for the record that
16· we do have an executed copy of this operating agreement
17· that we will be emailing to try to add as another
18· exhibit so that it can be properly authenticated on the
19· record.
20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I'm not worried about it,
21· Danielle.· I've seen it as well, I just wanted you to
22· know that one wasn't executed.
23· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.
24· BY MS. BARRAZA:
25· · · Q.· ·And are you on page 60?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes, I am.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So that's the continuation of the
·3· dispute resolution clause.· If you can read the -- do
·4· you see at the -- the last sentence where it says:
·5· · · · · ·"Should any party initiate a civil
·6· · · · · ·proceeding..."
·7· · · A.· ·The last sentence of which section?
·8· · · Q.· ·Of the first paragraph, page 60.
·9· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Counsel, do I have to remind you
10· that you are the ones that filed?
11· BY MS. BARRAZA:
12· · · Q.· ·Can you answer my question?· Do you see that
13· part, "Should any party..."?
14· · · A.· ·I'm trying to find it.
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Last sentence.
16· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Hold on.· Okay.
17· · · · · ·Yeah, I do see it.· Let me just make a comment
18· to you about my vision is not the best.· I have impacted
19· vision.· So it takes me a while to get through the
20· sentence.
21· BY MS. BARRAZA:
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you want me -- can I just go ahead
23· and read that sentence into the record so we're all on
24· the same page as to what we're reading?
25· · · A.· ·Go ahead.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So that says:
·2· · · · · ·"Should any party initiate a civil proceeding
·3· · · · · ·against any other, notwithstanding the binding
·4· · · · · ·arbitration provision above, such party
·5· · · · · ·initiating civil litigation shall recognize
·6· · · · · ·that it has caused material damage and harm to
·7· · · · · ·the other by way of their breach of this
·8· · · · · ·agreement, and hereby agrees to an award, to
·9· · · · · ·each named defendant party, liquidated damages
10· · · · · ·in the amount of any cost of defense incurred
11· · · · · ·by the aggrieved party plus $10,000."
12· · · · · ·Do you see that?
13· · · A.· ·I see it.
14· · · Q.· ·So what does that mean to you?
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
16· conclusion.
17· · · · · ·You can answer.
18· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It says we -- somebody has to pay
19· $10,000 for initiating a civil action.
20· BY MS. BARRAZA:
21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you understand that the trust has
22· initiated civil action against SJC with respect to this
23· operating agreement with -- regarding its counterclaim?
24· · · A.· ·I believe so.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so do you have any reason to dispute
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·1· that the trust should be held accountable to this
·2· dispute resolution clause in the operating agreement?
·3· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
·4· conclusion.· He can only testify to facts that he knows,
·5· Counsel.
·6· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·7· · · Q.· ·So go ahead.· You can answer the question.
·8· · · A.· ·I'm not sure.
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, going back -- let me just ask you
10· this:· Why didn't the trust -- if the trust felt it had
11· a breach of the contract claim against SJC, why didn't
12· it bring that claim in arbitration?
13· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
14· conclusion.
15· BY MS. BARRAZA:
16· · · Q.· ·Go ahead.
17· · · A.· ·I was not aware of all -- all of this as -- as,
18· you know, it says it here.
19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you agree you did sign off on this
20· agreement; correct?
21· · · A.· ·We did at the time, yes.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And when did the trust first realize
23· that there was an alleged breach of the operating
24· agreement?
25· · · A.· ·How much time do you have?
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·1· · · Q.· ·I'm asking you when.
·2· · · A.· ·Ask it again, please.
·3· · · Q.· ·When did the trust first realize that there was
·4· an alleged breach of the SHAC operating agreement?
·5· · · A.· ·When we learned that Mr. Bloom was not paying
·6· committed funds and trying -- and not closing on the
·7· house.
·8· · · Q.· ·So exactly when -- I'm asking you when?
·9· · · A.· ·I don't know.
10· · · Q.· ·What year?· What month?· When did that happen?
11· · · A.· ·I have no idea what -- what day or month or a
12· year.· It's been going on for --
13· · · Q.· ·Was it this year?· Was it last year?
14· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Hang on, Counsel.· You're
15· interrupting him.· He didn't get a chance to finish his
16· sentence.
17· · · · · ·Go ahead and finish your sentence.
18· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· This has been going on for such a
19· long time now, I don't recall which -- exactly the date
20· it was on.
21· BY MS. BARRAZA:
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So I'm not asking --
23· · · A.· ·-- years.
24· · · Q.· ·Sorry.· What did you say?
25· · · A.· ·Within the past three years.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Within the past three years.
·2· · · · · ·So it could have been -- according to your
·3· testimony, the alleged breach, you could have found out
·4· about it last year, the year before, or the year before
·5· that?
·6· · · A.· ·I have no idea when.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You have no idea when.
·8· · · · · ·And what I'm trying to figure out is why is the
·9· trust -- this counterclaim was asserted in July of this
10· year.· Why is the trust just now asserting a breach of
11· contract claim against SJC?
12· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
13· conclusion.
14· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I was not -- I'm not aware of the
15· July date.
16· BY MS. BARRAZA:
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And -- let's go to Exhibit 19, if we
18· can.
19· · · A.· ·Okay.
20· · · · · ·(Exhibit 19 was marked for the
21· · · · · ·record.)
22· BY MS. BARRAZA:
23· · · Q.· ·You're there?
24· · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I'll represent to you this is a
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·1· collection of documents that have been provided to us by

·2· the defendants.· I want to turn your attention to, I

·3· believe, just the last page, which is -- at the bottom

·4· it says L 001.

·5· · · A.· ·Okay.
·6· · · Q.· ·So do you recognize what L 001 is?

·7· · · A.· ·Assignment of Company and Membership Interests.
·8· · · Q.· ·So what does that mean to you?

·9· · · A.· ·In this case, I believe it meant that John
10· Otter and CBC Partners were given authority over the
11· interest.
12· · · Q.· ·So is that your signature on this L 001

13· document where it says "Kenneth M. Antos, Trustee"?

14· · · · · ·I didn't hear you.· Did you say "yes"?

15· · · A.· ·Yes.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you signed up on this document.

17· · · · · ·And this document is not dated.· Do you know

18· when you signed this document?

19· · · A.· ·No.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you have any legal counsel at

21· the time -- at the time you signed this document?

22· · · A.· ·No.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You had no legal counsel?

24· · · · · ·How did you -- how did you get this document?

25· Who gave it to you?
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·1· · · A.· ·If you look at 19, it says Mr. Mushkin sent it
·2· out.
·3· · · Q.· ·You are saying Mr. Mushkin sent it over via
·4· email?
·5· · · A.· ·No.· It says it was sent from Mr. Mushkin.· So
·6· I don't know how I got it.· I'm not sure.· To me,
·7· April's a long time.
·8· · · Q.· ·So you somehow got this document, L 001, and
·9· you decided to sign it; correct?
10· · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · Q.· ·Who did you speak to before deciding to sign
12· it?
13· · · A.· ·I didn't speak to anyone other than trying to
14· get this thing expedited through so that Mr. Otter would
15· have what he needs to do whatever he's doing here.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you didn't consult any attorneys or
17· anything like that before signing off on this; correct?
18· · · A.· ·Correct.
19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And is it your understanding that by
20· signing this document, what this is doing is
21· transferring any interest that the trust has in SHAC to
22· CBC Partners, LLC?
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
24· conclusion.· The document speaks for itself.
25· · · · · ·But you can answer.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm not sure.· They already had a
·2· third position on the house, though, that -- exceeded --
·3· BY MS. BARRAZA:

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Is it your testimony that -- is it

·5· your --

·6· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· You interrupted him again,

·7· Counsel.· Let him finish his sentence.

·8· BY MS. BARRAZA:

·9· · · Q.· ·Go ahead.· Finish your sentence, please.· Go

10· ahead.

11· · · A.· ·I said that they already had a third position
12· on the house which, when added to the first and second,
13· exceeded the value of the house.· So there was -- to me,
14· there was no negative side here.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What did you understand the effect to be

16· of signing this?

17· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal

18· conclusion.

19· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Are you waiting for me?
20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Yeah.· Answer.

21· BY MS. BARRAZA:

22· · · Q.· ·I'm waiting for you to answer my question.

23· · · A.· ·Okay.· He gave John the authority to do what he
24· needed to do to expedite the transaction.
25· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.
·2· · · · · ·THE COURT REPORTER:· Thank you.
·3· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·4· · · Q.· ·Now, did anybody speak to you about the
·5· doctrine of merger before you had signed off on this
·6· document?
·7· · · A.· ·I don't even know what a doctrine of merger is.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So nobody had spoken to you about what
·9· it was and what it would mean; correct?
10· · · A.· ·That's correct.
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, it's a -- would you agree with me
12· that you did not affirmatively waive any kind of
13· doctrine of merger by signing this; correct?
14· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
15· conclusion.
16· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Once again, I have no idea what a
17· doctrine of merger is; so I don't know how I could
18· answer that question.
19· BY MS. BARRAZA:
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· And so the -- let me just
21· ask you this:· At some point did CBC issue a note to you
22· or to any of your companies?
23· · · A.· ·A note?
24· · · Q.· ·A loan.
25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What was that loan -- what amount was

·2· that loan for?

·3· · · A.· ·A variety of amounts starting at a lower
·4· amount -- excuse me -- and then increasing as funds were
·5· required, and they added more to it.
·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And are you aware that -- well, as you

·7· sit here today, since you do not know what the doctrine

·8· of merger is, is it correct that you have no knowledge

·9· as to whether or not you would want it to apply in this

10· case; is that correct?

11· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection to the form of the

12· question.· Vague and ambiguous and calls for a legal

13· conclusion.

14· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't even know what you said.
15· BY MS. BARRAZA:

16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So what I'm asking you is because you

17· don't know what the doctrine of merger is, you can't

18· offer me any testimony as to whether or not you want it

19· to apply in this case; is that correct?

20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Same objection.

21· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· If it is what you just
22· iterated --
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Do you understand her question?

24· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yeah, I think so.· She's asking
25· me -- well, let me just answer this.
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·1· · · · · ·I can't answer that because I don't know what
·2· the doctrine is.
·3· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· And -- well, let me ask you
·5· this:· So you signed off on this document purportedly
·6· assigning the trust interest in SHAC to CBC.
·7· · · · · ·You would agree with me; correct?
·8· · · A.· ·That's what it says I did, yes.
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So then what I'm trying to figure out is
10· why is the trust now trying to assert a breach of
11· contract claim against SJC based on the operating
12· agreement?
13· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
14· conclusion.
15· BY MS. BARRAZA:
16· · · Q.· ·So you can answer.
17· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· It's been asked and answered as
18· well, Counsel.
19· · · · · ·But certainly answer it again, if you can.
20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Please repeat the question again.
21· BY MS. BARRAZA:
22· · · Q.· ·Yeah.
23· · · · · ·So what I'm trying to figure out is why is the
24· trust asserting a breach of contract claim against SJC
25· based on the breach -- a purported breach of the SHAC
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·1· operating agreement if the trust is no longer claiming

·2· to hold any interest in SHAC?

·3· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Same objection.· Calls for a

·4· legal conclusion.

·5· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Just trying to help John and CBC
·6· and -- to the best of my ability.· So that's -- that's
·7· why.· That's why.
·8· BY MS. BARRAZA:

·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, the -- what damages is the trust

10· claiming for breach of contract?

11· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· To the extent it calls for a

12· legal conclusion, we object.

13· · · · · ·You may certainly answer.

14· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· There is a whole list of things
15· that Bloom was supposed to do that have not been done.
16· BY MS. BARRAZA:

17· · · Q.· ·So what -- how is the trust damaged and what

18· damages is the trust claiming specifically?

19· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Same objection.

20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm sitting on a piece of
21· property that I shouldn't have to.· He was to close out
22· this deal well over a year ago.
23· BY MS. BARRAZA:

24· · · Q.· ·So how has the trust been damaged?

25· · · A.· ·For liability on the house.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So exactly what kind of monetary damages
·2· is the trust seeking for its breach of contract claim?
·3· · · A.· ·We'd have to accumulate them, and we'd answer
·4· that question.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you have no idea how much damages,
·6· monetary damages?
·7· · · A.· ·No, not without calculating it.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, what's the trust's basis for
·9· asserting a breach of contract claim when it's already
10· transferred its interest to CBC?
11· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
12· conclusion.· It's been asked and answered.· Counsel, you
13· asked the exact same question five minutes ago.
14· BY MS. BARRAZA:
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're not going to answer that
16· question?· We'll move on.
17· · · · · ·So going back -- I want to move on to the
18· exhibit that you were on, Exhibit 19.· So would you
19· agree with me that this document, L 001 on Exhibit 19 --
20· tell me when you're there.
21· · · A.· ·Yeah, okay.
22· · · Q.· ·Are you there?
23· · · A.· ·Yes.
24· · · Q.· ·There is no mention on this document of the
25· doctrine of merger; is that correct?
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·1· · · A.· ·I don't know.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, you can go through it and tell me
·3· if you see any mention of doctrine of merger on there.
·4· · · A.· ·Once again, I may have missed it because I
·5· have, as I just told you, I have impacted vision.· So
·6· I -- I don't see it offhand.
·7· · · Q.· ·And when you originally signed off on this
·8· document, did you understand everything that was written
·9· on here?
10· · · A.· ·Everything?· I have no idea whether I did or
11· didn't.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You have no idea whether you understood
13· what you signed; is that correct?
14· · · A.· ·At that time, yes.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so would you agree with me that, to
16· your knowledge, you have not agreed to any waiver of the
17· doctrine of merger?
18· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
19· conclusion.
20· · · · · ·You certainly --
21· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Once again, I have no idea what
22· the doctrine of merger is.
23· BY MS. BARRAZA:
24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So what I'm trying to figure out is
25· since you have no idea what it is, would you also agree
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·1· with me that you've never agreed to waive it off?
·2· · · A.· ·I'm not even sure how those two tie together.
·3· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
·4· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- how they tie together.
·5· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Well, let me ask you this:· Do you have
·7· any specific personal recollection of ever waiving off a
·8· doctrine of merger?
·9· · · A.· ·No.
10· · · Q.· ·Thank you.· Okay.· All right.
11· · · · · ·So I want to go back to -- back to the
12· counterclaim.· So do you have any idea what other
13· counterclaim the trust is asserting against SJC?
14· · · A.· ·Not without reviewing it.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Are you familiar that the trust has
16· asserted a claim against SJC for alter ego?
17· · · A.· ·Sounds logical.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So what's your basis for that?· What's
19· the trust's basis for that claim?
20· · · A.· ·Just all the kinds of things that Mr. Bloom has
21· perpetrated.
22· · · Q.· ·Like what?
23· · · A.· ·Hasn't paid for and hasn't closed, hasn't
24· provided by the time frames available to him for the
25· pending of the forbearance.· I want this house done
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·1· with.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Have you personally reviewed SJC's
·3· accounting and financial records?
·4· · · A.· ·Never saw them.
·5· · · Q.· ·Sorry.· Did you say "never saw them"?
·6· · · A.· ·I have never seen the --
·7· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
·8· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- the records.
·9· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Are you talking about SJC, or are
10· you talking about SHAC?
11· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· I'm talking about SJC.
12· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection to the form of the
13· question.· Vague and ambiguous.· He has no interest in
14· SJC.· Why would he see their financial records?
15· · · · · ·He already answered the question.· I just want
16· to register my objection.
17· BY MS. BARRAZA:
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, are you familiar --
19· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Of SHAC.· I'm sorry.
20· BY MS. BARRAZA:
21· · · Q.· ·Are you familiar that your alter -- the trust's
22· alter ego counterclaim is with respect to SJC?· Are you
23· familiar with that?
24· · · A.· ·Not without referring to it.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And are you familiar that the -- the

43

·1· trust's alter ego claim is claiming that Jay Bloom is
·2· the alter ego of SJC Ventures?
·3· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Asked and answered.
·4· · · · · ·You can answer it again.
·5· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It sure -- sure seems like it's
·6· an alter ego of --
·7· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
·8· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- Bloom's.
·9· BY MS. BARRAZA:
10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You're saying it seems like SJC is an
11· alter ego of Bloom's; is that what you're saying?
12· · · A.· ·Absolutely.
13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you've never seen SJC's financial
14· records.· Do you have any personal knowledge of SJC
15· being undercapitalized?
16· · · A.· ·I have no idea.
17· · · Q.· ·Do you have any personal knowledge of SJC being
18· insolvent?
19· · · A.· ·I have no idea.
20· · · Q.· ·Do you have any personal knowledge of Jay Bloom
21· commingling any of SJC's funds with his own personal
22· funds?
23· · · A.· ·No, but it sounds like something he'd probably
24· do.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· That's just your speculation; right?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yeah.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you have any personal knowledge
·3· of SJC failing to observe corporate formalities?
·4· · · A.· ·I don't even know who they are.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· And so moving on, getting
·6· back to the property, were you the original owner of the
·7· property at issue here?
·8· · · A.· ·Yes.
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And can you give me just some brief
10· background as to how you came about purchasing this
11· property.
12· · · A.· ·I bought the lot from the builder, from the
13· developer, and I contracted a contracting company to
14· build the house.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And how much was -- was it to buy the
16· lot?
17· · · A.· ·A million-eight.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if we could turn to Exhibit 1.
19· · · · · ·(Exhibit 1 was marked for the record.)
20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.
21· BY MS. BARRAZA:
22· · · Q.· ·Are you there?
23· · · A.· ·Yes.
24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What do you recognize Exhibit 1 to be?
25· · · A.· ·Part of the escrow transaction acquiring the
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·1· lot.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And would you agree with me that Exhibit
·3· 1 is a Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed where the -- it's
·4· indicating that the property is being issued to Kenneth
·5· M. Antos and Sheila M. Neumann-Antos, husband and wife,
·6· as joint tenants?
·7· · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And this was dated -- it was recorded
·9· April 16th, 20- -- 2007.
10· · · · · ·Does that sound about right to you?
11· · · A.· ·Yes.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so is it -- would you agree that
13· this Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed is evidencing you and
14· your wife purchasing the property and owning it as joint
15· tenants?
16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so originally the property was put
18· into your name and your wife's name as individuals and
19· as joint tenants and not into any kind of trust; is that
20· correct?
21· · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· It was later on down the line that the
23· property was transferred to a trust; correct?
24· · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, do you recall whether there was

AA0265



46

·1· a -- a deed of trust initially associated with this
·2· purchase?
·3· · · A.· ·It's been a while.· I have no idea.· I assume
·4· there is.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· That's fine.· We can turn to Exhibit 2.
·6· · · · · ·(Exhibit 2 was marked for the record.)
·7· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Hang on.
·8· · · · · ·Okay.
·9· BY MS. BARRAZA:
10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I'll represent to you this is -- is
11· a -- it's titled "Deed of Trust," and it was recorded
12· April 16, 2007, and it's with respect to Colonial Bank.
13· · · · · ·Do you recall having, you know, business
14· relations with Colonial Bank regarding the property?
15· · · A.· ·Yes.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Does that refresh any of your
17· recollection about what Colonial Bank was doing?
18· · · A.· ·Well, I remember Colonial Bank, but I don't
19· know what your question is.
20· · · Q.· ·Did Colonial Bank provide any kind of loan to
21· you?
22· · · A.· ·I believe they did.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you recall the amount of the loan?
24· · · A.· ·No.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you would agree that this Deed of

47

·1· Trust, Exhibit 2, is evidencing Colonial Bank having a
·2· deed of trust with respect to this property; correct?
·3· · · A.· ·I'm not sure what it -- what it represents.
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have any reason to dispute that?
·5· · · A.· ·I don't --
·6· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection to the form of the
·7· question.· Vague and ambiguous.· The document speaks for
·8· itself.
·9· · · · · ·Are you asking him if the Deed of Trust is
10· valid today, or are you asking him was it valid at the
11· time of the signing?
12· BY MS. BARRAZA:
13· · · Q.· ·I'll ask you was it valid at the time of
14· signing?
15· · · A.· ·As far as I know, it was.
16· · · Q.· ·Sorry.· I didn't hear you.
17· · · A.· ·As far as I know, it was.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And it's your testimony you have no
19· reason to dispute the legitimacy and authenticity of
20· this Exhibit 2; correct?
21· · · A.· ·Correct.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Moving on to Exhibit 3.· Tell me
23· whenever you're there.
24· · · · · ·(Exhibit 3 was marked for the record.)
25· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.· I'm there.
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·1· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·2· · · Q.· ·And this, I'll represent, is titled
·3· "Construction Deed of Trust," and it's recorded December
·4· 22nd, 2008, and with Southwest USA Bank.
·5· · · A.· ·Yes.
·6· · · Q.· ·Is that --
·7· · · A.· ·Okay.
·8· · · Q.· ·Do you have any reason to dispute the
·9· legitimacy and the authenticity of that Construction
10· Deed of Trust with Southwest USA Bank?
11· · · A.· ·No.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have a personal recollection of
13· Southwest USA Bank providing a construction deed of -- a
14· construction loan to you?
15· · · A.· ·Yes.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you recall the amount of the loan?
17· · · A.· ·I don't have the exact amount.· Three
18· million-something.
19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And were those funds used for purposes
20· of constructing and building the building on the
21· property?
22· · · A.· ·All of them.
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· A little louder.
24· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· All of the funds came out of
25· the -- Southwest to build the house.
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·1· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Understood.
·3· · · · · ·Going on, tell me whenever you're at Exhibit 4.
·4· · · · · ·(Exhibit 4 was marked for the record.)
·5· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.
·6· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Exhibit 4, I'll represent to you, is
·8· titled a "Substitution of Trustee and Deed of Full
·9· Reconveyance" recorded March 17th, 2009, and this is --
10· do you recall this document at all?
11· · · A.· ·No.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have any reason to dispute the
13· authenticity and legitimacy of this document?
14· · · A.· ·Upon -- if I had a chance to understand it, I
15· would -- it says Colonial Bank or whatever.· I assume
16· it's correct.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Let's go to Exhibit 5.
18· · · · · ·(Exhibit 5 was marked for the record.)
19· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Okay.
20· BY MS. BARRAZA:
21· · · Q.· ·Now, Exhibit 5, I'll represent, is titled
22· "Grant, Bargain, Sale Deed"; it's recorded October 14th,
23· 2010.· And my understanding of this document, tell me if
24· it's also your understanding, this is appearing to
25· transfer the deed of the property from you and your wife
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·1· as joint tenants individ- -- and putting it into -- the
·2· title into the trust.
·3· · · · · ·Is that your understanding?
·4· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· To the extent it calls --
·5· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.
·6· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· -- for a legal conclusion, I
·7· object, but, obviously, he can answer the question.
·8· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·9· · · Q.· ·Sorry.· What did you say?
10· · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So do you recall ever -- do you have a
12· personal recollection of getting this document prepared
13· and recorded?
14· · · A.· ·No.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What is your recollection as to why --
16· what was the purpose of putting the property --
17· transferring it from you and your wife as joint tenants
18· and putting it into a trust?· What was the reasoning for
19· that?
20· · · A.· ·Advice based on quick escrow -- I mean, quick
21· handling of this in the event of one of our deaths.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So it was based on advice you had
23· received?
24· · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· We can go to Exhibit 6.
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·1· Tell me whenever you're there.
·2· · · · · ·(Exhibit 6 was marked for the record.)
·3· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· That was 6.
·4· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· That was 5.
·5· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Oops.· Give me 6.· I turned too
·6· fast.· Oh, no, we're at 6.· Sorry.· Never mind.
·7· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·8· · · Q.· ·So 6, I'll represent, is titled "Deed of
·9· Trust."· It's recorded October 14th, 2010, and it's with
10· respect to City National Bank.
11· · · · · ·Do you see that?
12· · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have any recollection of City
14· National Bank providing any kind of loan?
15· · · A.· ·Yes.
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And what was the amount of that loan
17· that you recall?
18· · · A.· ·I believe it was 3 million -- 3.4 million, or
19· thereabouts.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And was that -- I'll represent to you
21· that on page 646 of Exhibit 6, which is the first page,
22· it does state the amount is 3,640,000.
23· · · · · ·Do you have any reason to dispute that?
24· · · A.· ·No.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so that note -- and it does also
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·1· state that the note was dated October 6, 2010.
·2· · · · · ·Does that sound about right to you?
·3· · · A.· ·Yes.
·4· · · Q.· ·So if the note was dated October 6, 2010, and
·5· then we have a deed of trust being recorded a few days
·6· later, October 14th, 2010 -- do you see that?
·7· · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And the 3,640,000, what was -- did you
·9· use that for purposes of the property, or what did you
10· use that for?
11· · · A.· ·Purposes of the property.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What did you -- was it for building the
13· property?· What was it for?
14· · · A.· ·Building the property.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· How did you -- do you recall
16· exactly how it came about that you would be getting this
17· loan specifically from City National Bank?
18· · · A.· ·I have -- I don't recall.
19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Let's go to Exhibit 7.· Tell me whenever
20· you're there.
21· · · · · ·(Exhibit 7 was marked for the record.)
22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm there.
23· BY MS. BARRAZA:
24· · · Q.· ·Exhibit 7, I'll represent, is called
25· "Substitution of Trustee and Deed of Reconveyance."
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·1· It's recorded October 27th, 2010.· It looks like it's
·2· regarding Southwest USA Bank.
·3· · · · · ·Do you see that?
·4· · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you have any reason to dispute the
·6· legitimacy of this document?
·7· · · A.· ·No.
·8· · · Q.· ·Let's go to Exhibit 8.
·9· · · A.· ·Okay.
10· · · · · ·(Exhibit 8 was marked for the record.)
11· BY MS. BARRAZA:
12· · · Q.· ·Exhibit 8 is titled "Deed of Trust and
13· Assignment of Rents," and it's recorded November 30th,
14· 2010, and it's regarding City National Bank.
15· · · · · ·Do you see that?
16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you have any reason to dispute
18· the authenticity of this document?
19· · · A.· ·No.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, I want to go back to discussing --
21· I want to go back to discussing that 3- -- that note
22· that you had with City Bank for 3,640,000.
23· · · · · ·Do you recall that?
24· · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, that note, that was a note issued
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·1· to the trust because the trust was the owner of the
·2· property; is that correct?
·3· · · A.· ·As far as I know.
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· We can go to the next
·5· exhibit, Exhibit 10.
·6· · · A.· ·Yeah.
·7· · · Q.· ·Actually, we're on Exhibit 9.· If we can go to
·8· Exhibit 9.
·9· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· We're on 9.
10· · · · · ·(Exhibit 9 was marked for the record.)
11· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Are you there?
12· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Yes.
13· BY MS. BARRAZA:
14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So Exhibit 9 is entitled "Revolving
15· Credit Deed of Trust Security Agreement and Assignment
16· of Rents" recorded April 4th, 2011, and it's regarding
17· Northern Trust Bank.
18· · · · · ·Do you see that?
19· · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · Q.· ·Do you have any reason to dispute the
21· authenticity of this document?
22· · · A.· ·No.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What's your understanding of what was --
24· what Northern Trust Bank was doing?
25· · · A.· ·It gave me a HELOC.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And that was issued to -- let me strike
·2· that.
·3· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· It's to the trustees.
·4· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Perfect.· Okay.
·5· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·6· · · Q.· ·It's to the trustees, and I just want to
·7· acknowledge page 700 of Exhibit 9.
·8· · · · · ·Are you there?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· The executed page?
11· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Yes.
12· BY MS. BARRAZA:
13· · · Q.· ·So I just want to confirm, this is your
14· signature here, you did execute this, and it was on
15· behalf of the trustee -- of the trust; correct?
16· · · A.· ·Correct.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Okay.· We can go to Exhibit 10.
18· · · · · ·(Exhibit 10 was marked for the
19· · · · · ·record.)
20· BY MS. BARRAZA:
21· · · Q.· ·Are you there?
22· · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So Exhibit 10, I'll represent, is -- it
24· says "Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security
25· Agreement and Fixture Filing" recorded on December 29th,
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·1· 2014.
·2· · · · · ·Do you see that?
·3· · · A.· ·Yes.
·4· · · Q.· ·And it's with respect to -- this references CBC
·5· Partners I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company.
·6· · · · · ·Do you see that?
·7· · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So what's your understanding of what
·9· this deed of trust for CBC is doing?
10· · · A.· ·CBC lent the company I was with additional
11· funds and said, "If you guarantee this, we will lend the
12· funds, but we need a deed of trust to substantiate it,"
13· and that's why this was prepared.
14· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
15· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· -- this was prepared.
16· BY MS. BARRAZA:
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And what company was CBC loaning that
18· money to?
19· · · A.· ·KCI Investments, I --
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.
21· · · A.· ·-- believe, at that time.
22· · · Q.· ·And what was KCI Investments in the business of
23· doing?
24· · · A.· ·Operating restaurants.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, were there -- so there was an
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·1· underlying note, correct, between CBC and KCI; is that
·2· correct?
·3· · · A.· ·Correct.
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did that underlying note undergo
·5· several amendments to it?
·6· · · A.· ·Yes.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you recall -- as you sit here today,
·8· do you have a recollection as to when the first note was
·9· issued between CBC and KCI?
10· · · A.· ·I believe in 2012.
11· · · Q.· ·All right.· So if we could turn to Exhibit 17
12· and then I'll tell you what page to go to.
13· · · · · ·(Exhibit 17 was marked for the
14· · · · · ·record.)
15· BY MS. BARRAZA:
16· · · Q.· ·Are you on Exhibit 17?
17· · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· If we could go to page 912.
19· Are you there?
20· · · A.· ·Yes.
21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So this page 912 on Exhibit 17, at the
22· top of it, it says "Secured Promissory Note."· It says
23· "300,000," and then it also has a date, June 22nd, 2012.
24· · · · · ·Do you see that?
25· · · A.· ·Yes.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And it references the borrower being KCI
·2· Investments.· I think like you testified earlier, KCI
·3· Investments, LLC, and it's saying "...promises to pay
·4· CBC Partners I, LLC..." and then it goes -- the amount
·5· is 300,000.
·6· · · · · ·Does that sound about right to you?
·7· · · A.· ·As far as I can recall.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And your earlier testimony was the first
·9· note was from 2012, which this is dated 2012.· Do you
10· have any recollection of any prior notes to this Secured
11· Promissory Note, or is this, to your recollection, the
12· first note?
13· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection to the form of the
14· question.· Vague and ambiguous.
15· · · · · ·Do you mean as to this transaction, of course?
16· BY MS. BARRAZA:
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So is this the first note as far as with
18· the transactions between CBC and KCI, to your knowledge?
19· · · A.· ·As far as I remember.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· You have no reason to dispute that this
21· is the first note; correct?
22· · · A.· ·I believe it is.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I want to go to the signature on that,
24· which is -- hold on -- so it looks like it's on page
25· 927.· Tell me whenever you're there.
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·1· · · A.· ·Okay.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so you -- is it correct that you
·3· signed off on this document?· It says "By:· Ken Antos"
·4· in your capacity as the managing member of KCI
·5· Investments; correct?
·6· · · A.· ·Yes.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then it looks like CBC Partners
·8· signed off.· Is that your understanding as well?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then it looks like there was -- if
11· you go on to page 930, a few pages later, it looks like
12· there's a Security Agreement with this note.
13· · · · · ·Do you see that?
14· · · A.· ·Yes.
15· · · Q.· ·And it looks like the Security Agreement is
16· dated June 22nd, 2012; so same time frame.· Do you recall
17· also signing a Security Agreement in addition to a note
18· with CBC Partners?
19· · · A.· ·Signed a guarantee.· I -- probably a Security
20· Agreement.· I don't recall it, but --
21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· That's fine.
22· · · · · ·Now, this loan, this 300- -- it was initially
23· 300,000, as we've seen.· So this 300,000, what was it
24· for again?
25· · · A.· ·Operating capital.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you used it for -- it was a
·2· commercial loan; correct?
·3· · · A.· ·Yes.
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And it was for the use of operating your
·5· various businesses and sorts; correct?
·6· · · A.· ·This business.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· This KCI business; correct?
·8· · · A.· ·Correct.
·9· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Understood.
10· · · · · ·All right.· And I think you had touched on it
11· earlier, you did sign a guarantee; correct?
12· · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · Q.· ·And that guarantee was signed in your
14· individual capacity; correct?
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection to the form of the
16· question.· Calls for a legal conclusion.
17· · · · · ·What document, Counsel?
18· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· We can find one of the
19· guarantees.· One second.· Hold on.
20· · · · · ·There's a guarantee on --
21· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I have --
22· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· There's numerous guarantees in
23· this batch, but --
24· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I'm on 952.
25· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Let me go to 952.· Hold on.
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·1· · · · · ·Okay.· I'm on 952.
·2· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Yeah.
·4· · · · · ·So this is an Acknowledgment and Agreement of
·5· Guarantors.
·6· · · · · ·Do you see that?
·7· · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · Q.· ·And do you see -- looks like you've signed off
·9· on this document and so has Sheila Antos; correct?
10· · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, what did you understand this
12· guarantee to be?
13· · · A.· ·Guaranteeing that 300,000.
14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you understand that this would
15· be a personal guarantee, that you and Sheila are
16· personally guaranteeing this?
17· · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· And I think you had touched
19· on it earlier.· You mentioned there were -- there were
20· various numerous modifications to this note; correct?
21· · · A.· ·Yes.
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Counsel, we've been going at it
24· for about an hour and a half.· How about a five-minute
25· break?
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·1· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Yeah, that sounds good.· No
·2· problem.
·3· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· How much more do you have of him?
·4· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Maybe -- I want to say half an
·5· hour, maybe.
·6· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Great.· See you in five minutes.
·7· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.· Thanks.
·8· · · · · ·We can go off the record.
·9· · · · · ·THE VIDEOGRAPHER:· The time is now 10:26 a.m.
10· We are off the record.
11· · · · · ·(A recess was taken from 10:26 a.m. to
12· · · · · ·10:34 a.m.)
13· · · · · ·THE VIDEOGRAPHER:· The time is now 10:34 a.m.
14· We are back on the record.
15· BY MS. BARRAZA:
16· · · Q.· ·All right.· Good morning, Mr. Antos.· We're
17· back on the record.· I'm sure you understand you're
18· still under oath; correct?· Do you understand that?
19· · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, I want to go back.· We do need to
21· just briefly authenticate some of these documents so
22· that there's no issue down the road.· Going back to
23· Exhibit 17, 952, that guarantee that we were just
24· discussing, tell me whenever you're there.
25· · · A.· ·Okay.
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·1· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· We just did that.
·2· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·3· · · Q.· ·Yeah, and so I just want to make sure for the
·4· record, this 952 document, this is an authentic
·5· document, and there's no issues with its authenticity;
·6· is that correct?
·7· · · A.· ·Not as far as I know.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And that is your signature; correct?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· I just want to make sure.
11· · · · · ·And for this guarantee, the trust is not a
12· guarantor; is that correct?
13· · · A.· ·That is correct.
14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then going back to -- we also
15· discussed the Security Agreement, which it looks like
16· you signed on -- let me just go back to that Security
17· Agreement.
18· · · · · ·Okay.· I'm seeing it on page 930, so tell me
19· whenever you're there, of Exhibit 17.
20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I get 927 on the first grab.
21· · · · · ·Now, you're referencing the Security Agreement,
22· Counsel?
23· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Yeah, I want to go to the
24· Security Agreement, and then I'll go to the note.· So
25· 930 -- 930.
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·1· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· As a general proposition, I'm not

·2· aware of any authentication issues that exist.

·3· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.

·4· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· 930 is -- what page do you want

·5· to go to, the signature page?

·6· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Yeah, if you can look at 930

·7· first.

·8· BY MS. BARRAZA:

·9· · · Q.· ·And do you see how that's the Security

10· Agreement dated June 22nd, 2012?

11· · · A.· ·Yes.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then do you see this is the Security

13· Agreement between KCI Investments as the debtor and CBC

14· Partners I, LLC, as the secured party?

15· · · · · ·Is that your understanding as well?

16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then going to the signature page,

18· which it looks like is on 944, tell me whenever you're

19· there.

20· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I'm on 949.

21· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Oh.· 949?· I think that's beyond

22· because that gets into the tenth modification.

23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· You might be right.· 944, okay.

24· BY MS. BARRAZA:

25· · · Q.· ·All right.· 944, it looks like -- who's Robert
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·1· Walsh?· Is he -- was he a managing member of KCI
·2· Investments, LLC?
·3· · · A.· ·At one point, he was.
·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And it looks like he signed off on this.
·5· · · · · ·Is that your understanding as well?
·6· · · A.· ·Yes.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So from your testimony here, you have no
·8· reason to dispute the authenticity and legitimacy of the
·9· Security Agreement; correct?
10· · · A.· ·No.
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then going back to the note, the
12· first note, the original note.· I'll try to find the --
13· I think it's page 912, tell me whenever you're there, of
14· Exhibit 17.
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· We're there.
16· BY MS. BARRAZA:
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So page 912, this is the Secured
18· Promissory Note that we spoke about dated June 22nd,
19· 2012, for the 300,000, and this is between KCI
20· Investments, LLC, and CBC Partners I, LLC.
21· · · · · ·Is that your understanding?
22· · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · Q.· ·And then if you go through that and you get to
24· the signature page, which is -- looks like it's on 927.
25· Tell me whenever you're there.
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·1· · · A.· ·Okay.
·2· · · Q.· ·Is that your signature where it says "Ken
·3· Antos" on 927?
·4· · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you have no reason to dispute the
·6· legitimacy and authenticity of the original note between
·7· KCI Investments, LLC, and CBC Partners I, LLC; correct?
·8· · · A.· ·Correct.
·9· · · Q.· ·All right.· And I want to touch base -- it
10· looks like, as we discussed, this original note was from
11· 2012, and then we discussed there's a deed of trust that
12· was recorded some two years later in 2014.· So I'm
13· trying to understand, how did we get to the point of CBC
14· having a deed of trust and that being recorded two years
15· after the -- the initial note?
16· · · A.· ·Dollars.
17· · · · · ·(Court reporter interrupts.)
18· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· The amount of dollars increased
19· to the point they did not want to take the risk.· So
20· they wanted collateral.
21· BY MS. BARRAZA:
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you're saying that there were --
23· there were numerous modifications to this loan; correct?
24· · · A.· ·Correct.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you're saying that in one of the
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·1· modifications, it got to the point where CBC was
·2· demanding to also have a deed of trust on the property;
·3· is that correct?
·4· · · A.· ·Correct.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, do you recall what modification
·6· that was -- that was in?
·7· · · A.· ·I'm not understanding.
·8· · · Q.· ·As far as do you recall if that agreement is
·9· set forth and memorialized in, like, the fourth
10· modification, the fifth modification, the sixth
11· modifica- --
12· · · A.· ·Not that I can --
13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· That's fine.
14· · · · · ·And then looking through these documents, do
15· you have any recollection of the -- the trust signing
16· off on any -- on any of these modifications?
17· · · A.· ·No.
18· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you have any recollection of
19· the -- let me strike that.
20· · · · · ·So the Deed of Trust -- if we go to Exhibit 10,
21· if we can go back to Exhibit 10.
22· · · A.· ·Okay.· We're there.
23· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And if we can go to the -- the signature
24· page.· It looks like it's on page 723 of Exhibit 10.
25· · · A.· ·Okay.
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·1· · · Q.· ·And so tell me when you're there.
·2· · · A.· ·I'm there.
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So this is, obviously, you're signing,
·4· and it looks like Sheila's signing in your capacities,
·5· obviously, as the -- the trustee of the -- of the trust;
·6· is that correct?
·7· · · A.· ·I don't see Sheila signing this.
·8· · · Q.· ·It looks like on -- in the middle of page 723.
·9· · · · · ·MRS. NEUMANN-ANTOS:· (Indicating).
10· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Oh, yeah.· Thank you.
11· BY MS. BARRAZA:
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So you would agree that you signed off
13· on this -- on this Deed of Trust with CBC in your
14· capacity as the trustee of the trust; correct?
15· · · A.· ·Correct.
16· · · Q.· ·Because the trust -- by this time, the trust
17· was the -- the owner of record of the property; correct?
18· · · A.· ·That is correct.
19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so, you know, our question is why is
20· the trust basically signing off on a deed of trust for
21· whatever -- the underlying note was not issued to the
22· trust?· That's what we're trying to figure out.
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection.· Calls for a legal
24· conclusion.
25· · · · · ·Answer if you can, please.
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·1· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I don't see any problem with it.
·2· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you ever have any legal counsel
·4· when you were signing off on all these modifications to
·5· the note between KCI and CBC?
·6· · · A.· ·Other than CBC's, no.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And was CBC drafting all these
·8· modifications to the note?
·9· · · A.· ·As far as I can remember.
10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you ever have a conversation
11· with CBC about you and Sheila Antos not being the owners
12· of the property, the owners of record of the property?
13· · · A.· ·No.
14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now -- one second.
15· · · · · ·Now, do you have any recollection of the trust
16· ever receiving any kind of consideration in return for
17· this Deed of Trust being signed?
18· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Objection to the extent it calls
19· for a legal conclusion.
20· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Trust specifically, no, I don't.
21· BY MS. BARRAZA:
22· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Now, did you have any discussions
23· with -- actually, going back a little bit with CBC and
24· your relations with CBC, how exactly did it come about
25· that CBC specifically would be issuing this note, the
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·1· initial $300,000 note?

·2· · · A.· ·Somebody who mutually knew them brought them to

·3· me.

·4· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And do you recall who that was?

·5· · · A.· ·A gentleman out of Newport Beach.

·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Do you recall his name?

·7· · · A.· ·No, I don't.

·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And when you were negotiating the loan,

·9· the initial $300,000 loan with CBC, did you have

10· discussions as to whether CBC was authorized to conduct

11· business in the state of Nevada?

12· · · A.· ·No --

13· · · Q.· ·Okay.

14· · · A.· ·-- I didn't have discussions.

15· · · Q.· ·And did CBC ever disclose to you whether they

16· were a registered company with the Secretary of State to

17· conduct business in Nevada?

18· · · A.· ·I would say I do recall.

19· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· So what I want you to do, do

20· you recall providing these documents -- and when I say

21· "these documents," I'm referring to Exhibit 17, which is

22· the underlying note between KCI and CBC Partners and

23· various modifications to the note.· Do you recall

24· providing those documents to Jay Bloom at some point?

25· · · A.· ·No.
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·1· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So what I'm trying to figure out is do
·2· you -- are you going to have any dispute as to the
·3· authenticity of these various documents that appear to
·4· have your signature on them and that relate to the --
·5· the note that CBC provided to KCI?· And if you want to
·6· go through them, you can.· What we're trying to figure
·7· out is is there going to be any authenticity issues with
·8· this batch of documents in Exhibit 17?
·9· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· To the extent it calls for a
10· legal conclusion, we object to the form of the question.
11· I think I've already stated on the record that generally
12· speaking there are no authenticity issues, Counsel.
13· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.
14· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Most of the documents are
15· recorded, and those that aren't make, you know, logical
16· sense.· So I don't believe there will be an authenticity
17· issue.
18· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.
19· BY MS. BARRAZA:
20· · · Q.· ·Now, I just want to clarify for the record.· So
21· the Antos -- the trust itself was not the borrower on
22· this commercial loan with CBC; is that correct?
23· · · A.· ·That is correct.
24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And the trust itself also was not a
25· guarantor on the note; is that correct?
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·1· · · A.· ·That is correct.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And so what exactly did the trust get
·3· for signing that deed of trust, which is Exhibit 10 --
·4· what did the trust get for signing that Deed of Trust
·5· for the property?
·6· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· To the extent it calls for a
·7· legal conclusion, we object to the form of the question.
·8· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· It got a, you know, continued
·9· good relationship with the Otters and with CBC.
10· BY MS. BARRAZA:
11· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I just want to clarify, there --
12· there isn't going to be any documentation showing the
13· trust getting any kind of monetary consideration;
14· correct?
15· · · A.· ·Not that I --
16· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· And so what kind of a
17· relationship did the trust have with CBC?· Any kind of
18· business relationship between the trust and CBC?
19· · · A.· ·No.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.
21· · · · · ·All right.· If we can go back to Exhibit 17 --
22· tell me whenever you're there.
23· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· We're in Exhibit 17.
24· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.· Perfect.
25· /////
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·1· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·2· · · Q.· ·I want -- I just want to look at that first
·3· page, 794.· Do you see how it says "First Amendment to
·4· Intercreditor Agreement"?
·5· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Yes.
·6· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.
·7· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· We're there.
·8· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·9· · · Q.· ·And then it looks like there's a signature on
10· page 796.· Do you see that?
11· · · A.· ·Okay.
12· · · Q.· ·It looks like -- is Preferred Restaurant
13· Brands, was that one of your companies?
14· · · A.· ·Yes.
15· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And it looks like somebody -- this looks
16· like this says "Gary."
17· · · · · ·Do you know a Gary?
18· · · A.· ·No.
19· · · Q.· ·Gary Dock or Deck?
20· · · A.· ·Oh, hold on.· Yeah.
21· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· (Indicating).
22· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I'm not sure.
23· BY MS. BARRAZA:
24· · · Q.· ·Okay.· What I'm trying to figure out is is
25· there any issue with this First Amendment to the
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·1· Intercreditor Agreement?· Do you agree that there was a
·2· first amendment that was done with CBC to that
·3· Intercreditor Agreement?
·4· · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you're not disputing the
·6· authenticity of that agreement?
·7· · · A.· ·No.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then there was a first modification
·9· to the promissory note, it looks like, on page 797.
10· · · · · ·Do you see that?
11· · · A.· ·Yes.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Is that a true and accurate copy of the
13· first modification, to your knowledge?
14· · · · · ·Do you want me to repeat it?
15· · · A.· ·I believe the answer's yes.
16· · · Q.· ·Oh, the answer is yes?· Okay.· All right.
17· · · · · ·And so you signed off on that first
18· modification; correct?
19· · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then it looks like on page 7 --
21· actually, page 801 of Exhibit 17, there's a second
22· modification.
23· · · · · ·Do you see that?
24· · · A.· ·Hold on.
25· · · Q.· ·801.
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.
·2· · · Q.· ·And is that a true and accurate copy of the
·3· second modification, to your knowledge?
·4· · · A.· ·Looks like it.
·5· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Here is the --
·6· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes.
·7· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you signed off on that; correct?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes, I did.
10· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then there's -- there's various
11· acknowledgment and agreements of guarantors in this
12· packet of documents.· So one of them is on page 805.
13· · · A.· ·Yes.
14· · · Q.· ·Is that your signature there?· Is that
15· authentic right there?
16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And to your knowledge, are there any
18· documents out there where -- where the trust was a -- a
19· guarantor?
20· · · A.· ·No.
21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And you can look at page 807.· That's an
22· authentic document as far as an acknowledgment and
23· agreement; correct?
24· · · A.· ·Looks like it.· Yes.
25· · · Q.· ·All right.· And then it looks like 809 -- it
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·1· looks like that is the first Intercreditor Agreement
·2· with TCA Global Credit Master Fund, CBC Partners, and
·3· Preferred Restaurant Brands.· Do you remember having an
·4· intercreditor agreement that went to Preferred
·5· Restaurant Brands?
·6· · · A.· ·Yes.
·7· · · Q.· ·Okay.· So is that an authentic document as far
·8· as -- as far as you know?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · Q.· ·And then looks like there was a fifth
11· modification on page 818.
12· · · A.· ·Okay.· We're there.
13· · · Q.· ·Does that look like a true and accurate copy of
14· the fifth modification where it was between KCI
15· Investments and CBC Partners?
16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·All right.· It looks like you signed off on
18· this document on page 821.· So is that your signature?
19· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I can't decide which one of us is
20· worse at this.
21· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· I know it's me.
22· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I can't decide which one of us is
23· worse.
24· · · · · ·THE WITNESS:· Yes, it is.
25· /////
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·1· BY MS. BARRAZA:
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Looks like there's another guarantee
·3· document on page 822.· Is that an authentic document
·4· that you signed off on?
·5· · · A.· ·Yes.
·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And it looks like there's a seventh
·7· modification on 823.· Is that an authentic seventh
·8· authentication document, to your knowledge?
·9· · · A.· ·Yes.
10· · · Q.· ·And it looks like you signed off on that on
11· page 833; is that correct?
12· · · A.· ·Hold on.
13· · · · · ·Yes.
14· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then it looks like there's another
15· guarantee document that you signed personally and so did
16· Sheila, looks like on page 834; is that correct?
17· · · A.· ·Yes.
18· · · Q.· ·And that's authentic; correct?
19· · · A.· ·Yes.
20· · · Q.· ·Okay.· It looks like there was a letter -- I
21· kind of want to touch on this a little bit -- on 835.
22· Do you recall getting any kind of correspondence from
23· CBC in January of 2017 regarding the loan?
24· · · A.· ·Well, it's here, but I -- I don't recall it.
25· · · Q.· ·Okay.· All right.· If we can go to the
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·1· guarantee on page 841, it looks like there's a Guaranty,
·2· and this is June 22nd, 2012.· Is that an accurate,
·3· authentic document, to your knowledge?
·4· · · A.· ·Hold on.
·5· · · · · ·As far as I can tell, yes.
·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· It looks like there's another Security
·7· Agreement on 852 from January of 2015.· Do you have any
·8· reason to dispute the authenticity of that document?
·9· · · A.· ·No.
10· · · Q.· ·And it looks like you signed off on it on page
11· 865; is that correct?
12· · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · Q.· ·And then there's an eighth modification on 866.
14· Does that sound about right, doing an eighth
15· modification in January of 2015?· And does that document
16· look accurate and authentic?
17· · · A.· ·Looks okay and it's -- I signed it.
18· · · Q.· ·And it looks like you signed off on it on 871.
19· · · · · ·Do you see that?
20· · · A.· ·Yes.
21· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Any issues with the authenticity of that
22· document?
23· · · A.· ·No.
24· · · Q.· ·Looks like another Guaranty on page 872.· Any
25· issues with the authenticity of that document that it
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·1· looks like you signed off on in 880?
·2· · · A.· ·No.
·3· · · Q.· ·Does that document appear authentic to you?
·4· · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And that is your signature on 880;
·6· correct?
·7· · · A.· ·Yes.
·8· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Another Intercreditor Agreement with
·9· Preferred Restaurant Brands is on page 881.· Does that
10· appear to be authentic to you?
11· · · A.· ·Yes.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And then there's another -- a third
13· modification on page 892 of the -- of the secured
14· promissory note.· Does that appear to be accurate and
15· authentic?
16· · · A.· ·Yes.
17· · · Q.· ·Is that your signature on page 894?
18· · · A.· ·Yes.
19· · · Q.· ·And then there's a fourth modification on page
20· 896.· Does that appear to be accurate from November of
21· 2013?
22· · · A.· ·Yes.
23· · · Q.· ·And is that your signature on page 900?
24· · · A.· ·Yes.
25· · · Q.· ·All right.· And is that your signature on page
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·1· 901 of this guarantee?
·2· · · A.· ·Yes.
·3· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Is that your signature also on 902?
·4· · · A.· ·Yes.
·5· · · Q.· ·Okay.· Looks like there's a ninth modification
·6· on 903.· Is that authentic, to your knowledge, from
·7· April of 2015?
·8· · · A.· ·Looks it.
·9· · · Q.· ·Is that your signature on page 910?
10· · · A.· ·Yes.
11· · · Q.· ·Is that your signature also on page 911?
12· · · A.· ·Yes.
13· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And I think we already went through 912,
14· I believe.
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· We did.
16· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.
17· BY MS. BARRAZA:
18· · · Q.· ·So we went through 912.· I just want to cover
19· all of our bases since we're the one producing these
20· documents.
21· · · · · ·Okay.· I think we've gone through the rest of
22· these.· I just want to circle back a little bit to you
23· mentioned -- you can actually go back to it, if it will
24· help you remember, Exhibit 19, and the last page of it,
25· the K001.

81

·1· · · A.· ·Okay.
·2· · · Q.· ·And am I correct that earlier you had testified
·3· that when you signed off on this transfer, you did not
·4· have legal counsel; correct?
·5· · · A.· ·That is correct.
·6· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And did you have any discussion with
·7· Mr. Mushkin about this transfer during the time you were
·8· considering signing it?
·9· · · A.· ·No.
10· · · Q.· ·Sorry.· Did you say "no"?
11· · · A.· ·No.
12· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And when did you retain counsel to
13· represent you in this litigation?
14· · · A.· ·I can't remember the date.
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I can tell you.
16· BY MS. BARRAZA:
17· · · Q.· ·Do you recall if it was, you know, a few months
18· ago?· Sorry?
19· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· Counsel, it was after he got
20· served.· He got sued.
21· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Okay.
22· BY MS. BARRAZA:
23· · · Q.· ·All right.· So is that also your recollection,
24· that after you actually became -- got served, you
25· retained counsel?
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·1· · · A.· ·Yes.
·2· · · Q.· ·Okay.· And --
·3· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· All right.· If we could take just
·4· a two-minute break, I just want to verify if I have
·5· anything else.· If we can go off for two minutes.
·6· · · · · ·THE VIDEOGRAPHER:· The time is now 11:02 a.m.
·7· We are off the record.
·8· · · · · ·(A recess was taken from 11:02 a.m. to
·9· · · · · ·11:05 a.m.)
10· · · · · ·THE VIDEOGRAPHER:· The time is now 11:05 a.m.
11· We are back on the record.
12· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· All right.· Mr. Antos, I am now
13· going to pass the witness.· And if your counsel has any
14· questions for you, this is the time to do so.
15· · · · · ·MR. MUSHKIN:· I have no questions of Mr. Antos
16· today.
17· · · · · ·MS. BARRAZA:· Thank you.
18· · · · · ·We can end this deposition and move on to the
19· next one.
20· · · · · ·THE VIDEOGRAPHER:· This concludes the
21· deposition of Kenneth Antos.· The time now is 11:06 a.m.
22· We are off the record.
23· · · · · ·(Deposition concluded at 11:06 a.m.)
24
25
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·1· · · · · · · · · ·CERTIFICATE OF WITNESS

·2· PAGE· ·LINE· ·CHANGE· · · · · · · · · REASON

·3· ____________________________________________________

·4· ____________________________________________________

·5· ____________________________________________________

·6· ____________________________________________________

·7· ____________________________________________________

·8· ____________________________________________________

·9· ____________________________________________________

10· ____________________________________________________

11· ____________________________________________________

12· ____________________________________________________

13· ____________________________________________________

14· ____________________________________________________

15· ____________________________________________________

16· ____________________________________________________

17· ____________________________________________________

18· ____________________________________________________

19· · · · · · · · · · · · *· *· *· *  *

20· · · · · ·I, KENNETH ANTOS, witness herein, do hereby

· · certify and declare under penalty of perjury the within

21· and foregoing transcription to be my deposition in said

· · action; that I have read, corrected, and do hereby affix

22· my signature to said deposition.

23

· · · · · · ·________________________________· __________

24· · · · · ·KENNETH ANTOS

· · · · · · ·Witness· · · · · · · · · · · · · · Date

25
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·1· · · · · · · · · ·REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
·2
· · STATE OF NEVADA· · · · )
·3· · · · · · · · · · · · ·) ss
· · COUNTY OF WASHOE· · · ·)
·4
·5· · · · · ·I, Dawn Bratcher Gustin, a duly certified court
· · reporter licensed in and for the State of Nevada, do
·6· hereby certify:
·7· · · · · ·That I reported the taking of the deposition of
· · the witness, KENNETH ANTOS, at the time and place
·8· aforesaid;
·9· · · · · ·That prior to being examined, the witness was by
· · me duly sworn to testify to the truth, the whole truth,
10· and nothing but the truth;
11· · · · ·That I thereafter transcribed my shorthand notes
· · into typewriting and that the typewritten transcript of
12· said deposition is a complete, true, and accurate record
· · of the proceedings to the best of my ability.
13
· · · · · · ·I further certify that (1) I am not a relative,
14· employee, or independent contractor of counsel of any of
· · the parties; nor a relative, employee, or independent
15· contractor of the parties involved in said action; nor a
· · person financially interested in the action; nor do I
16· have any other relationship with any of the parties or
· · with counsel of any of the parties involved in the
17· action that may reasonably cause my impartiality to be
· · questioned; and (2) that transcript review pursuant to
18· NRCP 30(e) was waived.
19· · · · · ·IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand
· · in the County of Washoe, State of Nevada, this 24th day
20· of September 2020.
21
22· · · · · · · ·_______________________________________
· · · · · · · · ·Dawn Bratcher Gustin, CCR 253, RPR, CRR
23
24
25
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GUARANTY

This GUARANTY(the "Guaranty") is made as of June 22, 2m2, by Kenneth Antos and Sheila
Antos, married persons (jointly and severally referred to in this Guaranty as the "Guarantor"), in

favor of CBe PARTNERSl, LLC,a Washington limited liability company (hereinafter "Lender").

RECITALS

A. Lender has agreed to lend to KCllnvestments, LLC(the "Borrower"), the sum of

three hundred thousand Dollars ($300,OOO.OO)(the "Loan") in accordance with the terms and
provisions of the Secured Promissory Note of even date (the "Note" and, collectively with all other

documents executed by Borrower in connection therewith, as each may be amended from time to
time, the "loan Documents").

B. As a condition precedent to making the Loan, Lender requires that Borrower
obtain the execution of this Guaranty by Guarantor and Lender will be relying on the terms
hereof in making the Loan.

C. The making of the Loan by Lender to. Borrower is of value to each Guarantor, is
reasonably expected to benefit each Guarantor, directly or indirectly, and is in furtherance of each
Guarantor's personal and business interests.

In consideration ofTen Dollars ($10.00), Lender making the Loan, and as an inducement to
Lender to do so, Guarantor hereby agrees, warrants, and covenants as follows:

1. Guarantor hereby unconditionally, irrevocably, and absolutely guarantees, without
demand by Lender, the full and prompt payment when due, whether by acceleration or otherwise,
of: (a) the entire amount of principal and accrued interest under the Note, and (b) all other
indebtedness, obligations, and liabilities of Borrower under the Loan Documents, including,
without limitation, all costs of collection, attorneys' fees, court costs, and other advances and
extensions thereunder whether such indebtedness, obligations or liabilities have been incurred
prior to the date hereof or are incurred from time to time hereafter and all without set-off,
counterclaim, recoupment, or deduction of any amounts owing or alleged to be owing by Lender
to Borrower. It is expressly understood that this Guaranty covers, without limitation: (a) any and
all amendments, extensions, modifications, rearrangements, and renewals of the Loan or any of
the loan Documents; and (b) all interest, default interest, and other amounts that would have
accrued under the Loan Documents but for the commencement of a case under the Federal
Bankruptcy Code or any other similar federal or state law. Without limiting the foregoing,
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Guarantor specifica!!yguarantees payment of any judgment entered against the Borrower and any
damages that may be awarded in any action brought against the Borrower by Lender arising out of

or relating to the loan or any loan Document. All of the indebtedness, obligations, and liabilities

described in this paragraph are referred to herein as the "Guaranteed Obligations." This Guaranty
is a guaranty of payment and not merely of collection.

2. This Guaranty shall take effect when received by lender without the necessity of
any acceptance by Lender or of any notice to Guarantor or to Borrower, shall be continuing and
irrevocable, and shall remain in full force and effect until the Guaranteed Obligations are fuUy and
finally paid. If payment is made by Borrower, whether voluntarily or otherwise, or by any third
party, onthe Guaranteed Obligations and thereafter Lenderis forced to remit, rescind or restore
the amount of that payment under any federal or state bankruptcy law or law for the relief of
debtors, or for any other reason: (a) the amount of such payment shall be considered to have been
unpaid at all times for the purposes of enforcement of this Guaranty; (b) the obligations of
Borrower guaranteed herein shall be automatically reinstated to the extent of such payment; and
(c) Guarantor wlil, on demand, indemnify for and hold Lender harmless from all losses and all
reasonable costs and expenses, including legal fees, incurred by Lender in connection with such
remission, rescission or restoration, lnthe event this Guaranty is preceded or followed by any
other agreement of suretyship or guaranty by the Guarantor or others, all shall be deemed to be
cumulative, and the obligations of the Guarantor hereunder shall be in addition to those stated in
any other suretyship or guaranty agreement.

3. The obligations of Guarantor hereunder are separate and independent of the
obligations of Borrower. Guarantor expressly agrees that a separate action may be brought
against Guarantor whether or not Borrower is joined in such action.

4. Guarantor represents, warrants, and covenants to Lender that: (a) Guarantor has
derived or expects to derive financial and other advantages and benefits, directly or indirectly,
from the making of this Guaranty and the Guaranteed Obligations; (b) no representations or
agreements of any kind have been made to Guarantor which would limit or qualify in any way
the terms of this Guaranty; (c) this Guaranty is executed at Borrower's request and not at the
request of Lender; (d) Lender has made no representation to Guarantor as to the
creditworthiness of Borrower; (e) Guarantor has established adequate means of obtaining from
Borrower on a continuing basis information regarding Borrower's financial condition; (f)
Guarantor will keep adequately informed of any facts, events, or circumstances which might in
any way affect Guarantor's risks under this Guaranty; (g) Lender shall have no obligation to
disclose to Guarantor any information or documents (financial or otherwise) heretofore or
hereafter acquired by Lender in the course of its relationship with Borrower; and (h) Guarantor
will not, without the prior written consent of Lender, sell, lease, assign, encumber,
hypothecate, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of Guarantor's assets, or
take any other action, directly or indirectly which might reasonably be expected to have a
material adverse effect to Guarantor's financial condition, including, without limitation, the
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business prospects, financial viability or marketability of any business entities in which
Guarantor owns an equity interest other than in the ordinary course of business.

5. The Guarantor hereby consents to all terms and conditions of agreements
heretofore or hereafter made between Lender and the Borrower (including without limitation
the Note and other Loan Documents) and further agrees that Lender may without further
consent or disclosure and without affecting or releasing the obligations of Guarantor
hereunder: (a) surrender, exchange, release, assign, or sell any collateral or waive, release,
assign, sell, or subordinate any security interest, in whole or in part; (b) waive, delay the
exercise of, release, compromise, or grant indulgences in respect of any rights or remedies of
Lender against the Borrower or any surety or guarantor (including, without limitation, rights or
remedies of lender against Guarantor under this Guaranty); (c) waive or delay the exercise of
any rights or remedies of Lender in respect of any collateral or security interest now or
hereafter held; (d) renew, extend, waive, extend, accelerate, or modify the terms of any
Guaranteed Obligation or the obligations of any surety or guarantor, including, without
limitation, changes to the rate of interest, or any instrument or agreement (including, without
limitation, the Loan Documents) evidencing or relating to the same; (e) realize on any security
interest judicially or nonjudicially, with or without preservation of a deficiency judgment; (f)
apply payments received from Borrower or any surety or guarantor (including Guarantor) or
from any collateral, to any indebtedness, liability, or obligations of Borrower or such sureties or
guarantors whether or nota Guaranteed Obligation hereunder; or (g) adjust, compromise, or
receive less than the amount due upon any collateral or the Guaranteed Obligations, and enter
into any accord and satisfaction or novation agreement with respect to the same as Lender
shall deem advisable.

6. Guarantor waives notice of: (a) Lender's acceptance of this Guaranty or its
intention to act or its actions in reliance hereon; (b) the present existence or future incurring of
any Guaranteed Obligations or any terms or amounts thereof or any change therein; (c) any
default by the Borrower or any surety or guarantor; (d) the obtaining of any guaranty or surety
agreement (in addition to this Guaranty); (e) the obtaining of any pledge, assignment or other
security for any Guaranteed Obligations; (f) the release of the Borrower or any surety or
guarantor; (g) the release of any collateral; (h) any change in Borrower's business or financial
condition; (i) any renewal, extension or modification of the terms of any Guaranteed Obligation
or of the obligations or liabilities of any surety or guarantor or of any instruments or
agreements evidencing the same; (j) any acts or omissions of Lender consented to in Section 6
hereof; and (k) any other demands or notices whatsoever with respect to the Guaranteed
Obligations or this Guaranty. The Guarantor further waives notice of presentment, demand,
protest, notice of nonpayment, notice of intent to accelerate, and notice of protest in relation
to any instrument or agreement evidencing any Guaranteed Obligation.

7. Guarantor expressly waives any and all rights to defenses arising by reason of: (a)
any "one-action" or "anti-deficiency" law or any other law which may prevent Lender from
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bringing any action, including a claim for deficiency against Guarantor, before or after lender's
commencement or completion of any foreclosure action, either judicially or by exercise of a
power of sale; (b) any election of remedies by Lender which destroys or otherwise adversely
affects Guarantor's subrogation rights or Guarantor's rights to proceed against Borrower for
reimbursement, including without limitation any loss of rights Guarantor may suffer by reason
of any law limiting, qualifying, or discharging the Guaranteed Obligations; (c) any disability or
related defense of Borrower, or any other Guarantor, or of any other person, or by reason of
the cessation of Borrower's liability from any cause whatsoever, other than full and final
payment in legal tender of the Guaranteed Obligations; or (d) any right to claim discharge of
the Guaranteed Obligations on the basis of unjustified impairment of any collateral for the
Guaranteed Obligations. Guarantor further: (a) agrees that any part payment by Borrower or
other circumstance which operates to toll any statute of limitations as to Borrower shall toll the
statute of limitations as to Guarantor; (b) waives any rightto cause a marshaling of Borrower's
assets; and (c) waives all exemptions and homestead laws. Guarantoragrees that Lender may
proceed against any collateral securing the Guaranteed Obligations by way of either judicta] or
nonjudicial foreclosure. Guarantor understands that a nonjudicial foreclosure of any security
instrument securing the Guaranteed Obligations could impair or eliminate any subrogation or
reimbursement rights Guarantor may have against Borrower, nevertheless Guarantor hereby
waives and relinquishes any defense based upon the loss of any such reimbursement or
subrogation rights or any other defense which may otherwise arise therefrom and any defense
that may arise out of election of remedies, discharge or satisfaction of the Guaranteed
Obligations. in the event any such security instrument is foreclosed judicially or nonjudlclallv,
Guarantor's liability under this Guaranty shall be that portion ofthe Guaranteed Obligations
representing a deficiency resulting from a judicial or nonjudicial sale,1&., the difference
between the amount due and owing on the Guaranteed Obligations on the day of the
foreclosure sale (including without limitation principal, accrued interest, attorneys' fees, late
payments, if any, and costs offoreclosure) and the amount of the successful bid at any such
judicial or nonjudicial foreclosure sale. Guarantor hereby waives the right to object to the
amount which may be bid by lender at such foreclosure sale. Guarantor specifically waives the
limitations on the amount of money judgments as may be prescribed by Washington statute.

8. No act of commission or omission of any kind or atanv time on the part of
Lender with respect to any matter whatsoever shall in any way affect or impair this Guaranty .

. Without limiting the foregoing, the obligations, covenants, agreements, and duties of
Guarantor under this Guaranty shall not be released or impaired in any manner whatsoever,
without the written consent of lender, on account of any or all of the following: (a) any act or
omission of Lender consented to in Section 5 hereof; (b) the failure to receive any notice,
demand, presentment, or protest waived in Sections 4 and 6 hereof; (c) the occurrence of any
event as to which Guarantor has provided its waiver under Section 7 hereof; (d) any failure by

the Borrower or any other guarantor or surety to perform or-comply with the Guaranteed
Obligations or the terms of any instrument or agreement relating thereto; (e) any change in the
name, purpose, capital stock or constitution of the Borrower orany other guarantor or surety:
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(f) any irregularity, defect or unauthorized action by Borrower or any other guarantor or surety
or any of their respective officers, directors, or other agents in executing and delivering any
instrument or agreements relating to the Guaranteed Obligations or in carrying out or
attempting to carry out the terms of any such agreements; (g) any receivership, insolvency,
bankruptcy, reorganization or similar proceeding by or against Borrower, Lender, Guarantor or
any other surety or guarantor; (h) any assignment, endorsement or transfer, in whole or in part,
of the Guaranteed Obligations, whether made with or without notice to or the consent of
Guarantor; (i) the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, sale or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the assets of Borrower or any guarantor; UJ the acceptance of additional or
substitute property as security for or any additional guaranty as surety for any Guaranteed
Obligation; (k) the operation of law or any other cause, whether similar or dissimilar to the
foregoing; (I) the failure by Lender to file or enforce a claim against the estate (either in
administration, bankruptcy or other proceeding) of Borrower or any other person or entity
(including, without limitation, any guarantor); (rn) if the recovery from Borrower or any other
person or entity (including, without limitation, any other guarantor) becomes barred by any
statute of limitations or is otherwise prevented; (n) any impairment, modification, change,
release or limitation of liability of, or stay of actions of lien enforcement proceedings against
Borrower, Borrower's property, or its estate in bankruptcy resulting from the operation of any
present or future provision of the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any other similar federal or state
statute, or from the decision of any court; or (0) any neglect, delay, omission, failure or refusal
of Lender to take or prosecute any action for the collection of any of the Guaranteed
Obligations or to foreclose or take or prosecute any action in connection with any lien or right
of security (including perfection thereof) existing or to exist in connection with, or as security
for, any of the Guaranteed Obligations, it being the intention hereof that Guarantor shall
remain liable as a principal on the Guaranteed Obligations notwithstanding any act, omission or
event which might! but for the provisions hereof, otherwise operate as a legal or equitable
discharge of Guarantor. Guarantor hereby waives all defenses of a surety to which it may be
entitled by statute or otherwise.

9. Guarantor acknowledges that Lender intends to obtain other guarantees and
collateral to secure the repayment of the Guaranteed Obligations. Guarantor represents and
warrants to Lender, however, that in making this Guaranty it is not relying upon the Lender's
obtaining any guaranty agreements (other than this Guaranty) or any collateral pledged or
assigned to secure repayment of the Guaranteed Obligations •. Guarantor specifically
acknowledges that Lender's obtaining any such guaranty agreements or collateral is not a
condition to the enforcement of this Guaranty. If Lender should simultaneously or hereafter
elect to attempt to take additional guaranty agreements or collateral to secure repayment of
the Guaranteed Obligations and if its efforts to do so should fait in any respect including,
without limitation, a determination that the agreement purporting to provide such additional
guaranty or security interest is invalid or unenforceable for any reason, this Guaranty shall,
nonetheless, remain in full force and effect.
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10. Guarantor hereby irrevocably waives all claims it has or may acquire against
Borrower in respect of the Guaranteed Obligations, including rights of exoneration,
reimbursement and subrogation. Guarantor has received no indemnification or other
agreement of reimbursement from Borrower in connection with the execution and delivery of
this Guaranty.

11. This Guaranty shall inure to the benefit of lender, and lender's successors and
assigns, and shall be binding upon Guarantor and his heirs, personal or legal representatives,
administrators, executors, successors, and assigns. Lender may, without any notice whatsoever
to Guarantor, or to anyone else, sell, assign or transfer the Note, with or without any security
therefore, and in that event each and every immediate and successive assignee, transferee, or
holder of all or any part of the Loan and the Note shall have the right to enforce this Guaranty,
by suit or otherwise, for the benefit of such assignee, transferee or holder as though such
parties were herein by name specifically given those rights, powers and benefits,

12. Guarantor agrees to pay all costs and expenses which may be incurred by Lender
in the enforcement or interpretation of this Guaranty, including reasonable attorneys' fees and
costs (to be determined by the court and not by a jury), and ihcluding all costs and reasonable
attorneys' fees and costs incurred in any bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding or 011 appeal to
one or more appellate courts.

13. This Guaranty shall be governed by and construed and enforced under the laws
of the State of Washington, and venue for any action shall lie exclusively inKing County.

14. No delay on the part of Lender in exercising any right, power or privilege under
this Guaranty shall operate as a waiver of any such right, power or privilege, nor shall any
exercise or waiver of any privilege or right preclude any other or further exercise of such
privilege or right or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. All of Lender's rights and
remedies shall be cumulative. In the event Lender in its sole discretion elects to give notice of
any action with respect to the sale of collateral, if any, securing the Guaranteed Obligations or
any part thereof, Guarantor agrees that ten (lO) days prior written notice shall be deemed
reasonable notice of any matters contained in such notice.

15. Any indebtedness of Borrower now or hereafter held by Guarantor is hereby
subordinated to the Guaranteed Obligations. If Lender so requests, such indebtedness of
Borrower to Guarantor shall be collected, enforced and received by Guarantor in trust.for
Lender, and be paid over to Lender on account of the Guaranteed Obligations, but without
reducing or affecting In any manner the liability of Guarantor under the other provisions of this
Guaranty. Guarantor shall file all claims against Borrower in any bankruptcy or other
proceeding in which the filing of claims is required by law upon any indebtedness of Borrower
to Guarantor and will assign to Lender all rights of Guarantor thereunder. If Guarantor does
not file any such claim, Guarantor hereby appoints and constitutes lender as Guarantor's
attorney-in-fact and hereby authorizes Lender to do so in the name of Guarantor or, in Lender's
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discretion, to assign the claim and to cause the claim to be filed in the name of Lender's
nominee. In all such cases, whether in administration, bankruptcy, or otherwise, the person or
persons authorized to pay such claim shall pay to Lender the full amount thereof, and
Guarantor hereby assigns to Lender, to the full extent necessary for that purpose, all of
Guarantor's rights to any such payments or distributions to which Guarantor would otherwise
be entitled. Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to create a duty in Lender totake any
action whatsoever to protect any right Guarantor may have as to Borrower.

16. If any provision of this Guaranty or any portion of any provision of this Guaranty
shall be deemed to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, suchlnvalidltv, illegality, or
unenforceabtlitv shall not alter the remaining portion of such provision, or any other provision
hereof, as each provision of this Guaranty shall be deemed severable from all other provisions
hereof.

17. This Guaranty shall be so construed that, wherever applicable, the use of the
singular number shall Include the plural number, the use of the plural number shall include the
singular number, and the use of any gender shall be applicable to allgenders,and shall likewise
be so construed as applicable to and including a corporation, partnership, or other entity. Each
married individual who executes this Guaranty intends to bind both his or her separate estate
and the community estate of that married individual and his or her spouse. If this Guaranty is
executed by more than one person or entity, the obligations of each Guarantor hereunder shall
be joint and several and this Guaranty shall apply to each of the individuals or entities
comprising Guarantor as if each had executed a separate guaranty. Each Guarantor agrees that
Lender, in its discretion, may: (a) bring suit against all Guarantors jointly and severally or against
anyone or more of them, (b) compound or settle with any one or more of Guarantors for such
consideration as Lender may deem proper; and (c) release anyone or more of Guarantors from
liabifity hereunder, and that no such action shall impair the rights of Lender to collect the
Guaranteed Obligations (or the unpaid balance thereof) from the other Guarantors not so sued,
settled with or released.

18. All agreements between Guarantor and Lender, whether now existing or
hereafter arising and whether written or oral, are hereby limited so that in no contingency,
whether by reason of demand or acceleration of the final maturity of the Loan or otherwise,
shall the interest contracted for, charged, received, paid or agreed to be paid to lender under
or in connection with the Loan exceed the maximum amount permissible under applicable law.
All interest paid or agreed to be paid to Lender shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law,
be amortized, prorated, allocated, and spread throughout the full period (including any renewal
or extension) until payment in full of the principal balance of the Loan so that the interest
hereon for such full period shall not exceed the maximum amount permissible under applicable
law. Lender expressly disavows any intent to contract for, charge or receive interest in an
amount which exceeds the maximum amount permissible under applicable law. This paragraph
shall control all agreements between Guarantor and Lender.
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19. For the convenience of the parties hereto, this Guaranty has been prepared for
execution by multiple parties (and, where applicable, their spouses), each of which is a Guarantor
for all purposes hereunder. Each of the parties signing this Guaranty hereby represents, warrants
and covenants for the benefit of Lender that it is the intentionof such party that this Guaranty be
fully enforceable against it in accordance with its terms to the same extent as jf such party had
been the only party identified as a "Guarantor" hereunder and had executed a separate Guaranty
(in the form hereof) in favor of Lender. Each ofthe parties signing this document expressly
confirms that in making this Guaranty it is not relying upon Lender obtaIning signatures from any
of the other parties identified as a "Guarantor" herein. Each party signing this Guaranty expressly
agrees that the failure by one or more of the other parties identified as "Guarantors" herein to sign
this Guaranty shall not prevent the full enforcement of this Guaranty against each party who has
signed the Guaranty.

WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. GUARANTOR(S) AND LENDER HEREBY KNOWINGLY,
VOLUNTARILY, AND INTELLlGENTl Y WAIVE ANY AND ALL RIGHTS THAT EACH PARTY TO THIS
GUARANTY MAY NOW OR HEREAFTER HAVE UNDER THE LAWS OF THE UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA OR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, TO A TRIAL BY JURY OF ANY AND ALL ISSUES
ARISING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING RELATING TOTH!S

GUARANTY THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREBYOR
RELATED THERETO.

GUARANTOR(S) UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS WAIVER 1SA WAIVER OF A CONSTITUTIONAL

SAFEGUARD, AND EACH PARTY INDIVIDUALLYBELIEVES THAT THERE ARE SUFFICIENT
ALTERNATE PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE SAFEGUARDS, INCLUDING A TRIAL BY AN
IMPARTIALJUDGE, THAT ADEQUATELY OFFSET THE WAIVER CONTAINED HEREIN.
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I

NoncE: ORAL AGREEMENTS OR ORAL coJMiTMENTSTO LOAN MONEY. EX'I'END

CREDIT OR FORBEAR 'FROM ~NFORCING REPAVME~T OF A O~BT ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE UNDER
',,'..c.' .. ,,' I

WASHINGTON tAW. v. ' I.

IN WITNESSWHEREOF,Guarantor has execuied this Guaranty as ofthedate written
I ,

above. I

, I

I
I

~I
I
I

I
I Mdress:

GUARANTOR:

By: Kenneth Antos
55 No.: (> .51 'J; t:f't'1. If 8'

GUARANtOR

By:
SSNo.:

Sheila Antos

Address:

CBC062UOlll(A

. 5/¥Jf ¥~IJd/{'!i;jI« ..
i lid (J~ >111.J?9/~

I
I
!
I
I
I
i,
i
I

Page 9 of 11,
i
I

I,!
PLTFS00849 AA0285



STATE OF NEVADA

)ss.

COUNTY OF CLARK

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that Kenneth Antos is the person who

appeared before me, and thatsaid person acknowledged that he/she signed this instrument, on oath

stated that he/she was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it to be his/her free and

voluntary act for the uses and purposes mentioned in~.instru7\':·1 i fl

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN to before me this 9ft day of r---- 2012.

CHIlJSTlNE $. MOIlEtlO
NOTARY PUBUC

STAlE Of NE\lADA
MyCom~n~ 11-13-<1)13

Celttictlt& No: fl4.2IlIlN Print Name:

NOTARY PUBUC in and for the State of

Nevada, residing at '2...
My Commission expires: __ --1...:.....::...;::..--=-/

[STAMP}

STATEOF NEVADA

)S5.

COUNTY OF CLARK

I certify that I know or have satisfactory evidence that Sheila Antos is the person who appeared

before me, and that said person acknowledged that he/she signed this instrument, on oath stated that

he/she was authorized to execute the instrument and acknowledged it to be his/her free and voluntary

act for the uses and purposes me.ntioned in the instru~~. D.·.lA'.U I
SUBSCRIBEDAND SWORN to before me this _fl._ day 0. ~ 2012.
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[STAMP]

CBC06222012KA

Print Name: """'--"-'----''-'-_-''-''....0.-
NOTARY PUBLIC in and for

Nevada, residing at ..\,.IIl'l.;...l.!.&i~~.--.r.2""

My Commission expires: __ --''--.:..-X.c-.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT OF GUARANTORS
Each ofthe undersigned guarantors of the indebtedness ofKCI Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited

liability company (the "Borrower") to CBC Partners I, LLC ("Lender"), a Washington limited liability

company, or its assigns, pursuant to his/her Guaranty dated June 22, 2012, (the "Guaranty"), hereby (i)

acknowledges receipt of the First Modification to Secured Promissory Note; (ii) consents to the terms and

execution thereof; (iii) reaffirms all obligations to Lender pursuant to the terms of the Guaranty; and (iv)

acknowledges that Lender may amend, restate, extend, renew or otherwise modify the Note and any

indebtedness or agreement of the Borrower, or enter into any agreement or extend additional or other credit

accommodations, without notifying or obtaining the consent of the undersigned and without impairing the

liability of the undersigned under the Guaranty for all of the Borrower's present and future indebtedness to

Lender.
t1/

Dated as of the ~ day of July, 2012.

GUARANTORS:

Kenneth Antos

,~~

Shelia Antos
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND AGREEMENT OF GUARANTORS

Each of the undersigned guarantors of the indebtedness of KCI Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited

liability company (the "Borrower") to CBC Partners 1, LLC ("Lender"), a Washington limited liability

company, or its assigns, pursuant to his/her Guaranty dated June 22, 2012, (the "Guaranty"), hereby (i)

acknowledges receipt of the First Modification to Secured Promissory Note; (ii) consents to the terms and

execution thereof; (iii) reaffirms all obligations to Lemler pursuant to t he terms of the Guaranty: and (iv)

acknowledges that Lender may amend, restate, extend, renew or otherwise modify the Note and any

indebtedness or agreement of the Borrower, or enter into any agreement or extend additional or other credit

accommodations, without notifying or obtaining the consent of the undersigned and without impairing the

liability of the undersigned under the Guaranty for all of tile Borrower's present and future indebtedness to

Lender. --:! j

\ Ot \~"-
Dated as of the ~lY of July, 2012.

544175~. J

/..

J,uJie Walsh
f :'\./
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.ACKNOWLEI}GMENTANDAG.REEMEl\7 OF CUARANTOR.~

Each of the undersigned guarantors of the indebtedness ofKCI ·hrvestmcnts.,.lLC;,a Nevada limited

liability company (the "Borrower") to GEe Partners 1, LL<:: C<Lender":h a Washington limited liahility

company. or its asslgns.pufsuant 10 his/her Guaranty dated June 22, 2012, (tile "Guaranty"), hereby (i)
acknowledges .reeeiptofthe Second Modification to Secured Promissory Note; (H) consents to the terms

.and execution thereof; (iii) reaffirms aU obligations to Lender pursuant to the tenus of the Guaranty; and

(Iv) acknowledges that Lender may amend, restate, extend, renew or otherwise modify the: Note and any

indebtedness or agreement of the Borrower. or enter into any agreement or extend additional Of other credie

accommodations, without notifying or obtaining the consent of the undersigned and withou; impairing the

liabitity of the undersigned under the-Guaranty for an of the Borrower's present and. future Indebtednessto

Lender.
. ... .. ... . fY... .....

. Da1W as:ofthe ~ <Jay of October, 201 L .

GUARA.NTORS:·C,?-~
..Ken:neth Antos . . .

~00~~·.·
Sll¢!ia Antos . ... .
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. ACKNUWLg{.l{]Mb.'NT ANnAtYR~~MENT.OF GUARANTORS'

.E~.chQf\heundef$igwxtgu~r~rito.fS(!fthe indf)btedl1e%QrKC~rhivest~~~niS,LLC ••aNe?ada1inlitffi.

I}abllity .cmnpan:y(thc "Borrower").' loCBCP:artn;;rs .1; LLC· ("'Le.'MIi;f'), .itW,ashirtgtOn 'lijM~ed IiahHity '..' .

·cmnp<.!Uy; or its aSSLf,>1:lS,pU1:su<lnt .lollis/her. Quarantyd<tt-ed Jtlfte'l2:20l2, (the.' "(;Qari!qty,,'),l1eie~)"(I) ....

. .;,1{;knuwkdges ;retdpt '.01'the Sec{}iJdM{)difi{.'a!~(~il..to Set:.u.redPiTJmiS5Qry NOki;;{ii} c.on~r}t".t6..tiit;·.t~trrL"'·

anrl.C:)ICcutic'l:l tl~reof; (W} rea[finns 4irtibHgaiiofl5 to Lender' l~ursuantto th~ renn${~ftl~Gvar&f!tY;{;fld'
·(iv} iK:know'ledge,,,;, tnatLel1de.rm'lY amef\,j,. resra~e, cxi~~nd,renew orotht;rwlscrri('r(Ufy fheNnte .andriny .

il)debredneJ.~oragrecmenlottheUQti'oWer"Nenti)rinio ~tll'i·agr~mentorext~.l.}dad~Ht:i~)j}aJorother.ere ...,dit .

·a~om11lo~riii\')m;,wHJi.6l!~i!Hjlifying.or oiJtaitlingl.tieconsenr L'1,'the tmde.rsigfll!.'Ll and without iinpairin.g. the' .

HahHity {',<fthe.uri{~ersigned t~i)defthe.Gtlar:2nty tl.}{' all M theBon'(~wer':,;pre$en[ an.d fUL'PfC lifilebt6:l.ness: to
~~. '. ..•........... . .... . .. '

. nated.l4sotthe\~Jay.n~~l'··
.>:'

......

....

...... .

'.: .

0 •• " •

. .

'.' .

. ....
.. . " ..... r :

.......

. .....
. . " ..

PLTFS00808 AA0291



EXHIBIT 6 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT 6 

AA0292



FIRST MODIFICATION TO SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE

THIS FIRST MODIFICATION TO SECURED PROMISSORY NOTE (this "Modification"),

effective as of July 19, 2012, is entered into by and between KCI Investments, LLC, a Nevada limited

liability company ("Borrower"), and CBC PARTNERS I, LLC, a Washington limited liability company, or

its assigns ("Lender").

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Borrower is currently indebted to Lender pursuant to the terms and conditions of that

certain Secured Promissory Note between Borrower and Lender dated as of June 22, 2012, as amended

from time to time ("Note").

WHEREAS, Lender and Borrower have agreed to certain changes in the terms and conditions set

forth in the Note and have agreed to amend the Note to reflect said changes.

NOW, THEREFORE, for valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby

acknowledged, the parties hereto agree that the Note shall be amended as follows:

1. Amended definition of "Maturity Date". The definition of "Maturity Date" as set forth in

Section 1.1 of the Note, is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:

"Maturity Date" means the date that is twelve (12) months following the date first above written.

2. Increased Principal Amount. The maximum principal amount of the Note is hereby

amended to be Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00).

3.

following:

Amended Section 2.1. Section 2.1 of the Note is deleted in its entirety and replaced with the

2.1 Advance. On June 25, 2012, $300,000 of the principal balance of this

Secured Promissory Note was advanced to Borrower. On or before July 20, 2012,

Borrower may request an additional advance in an amount not to exceed $1,700,000. Such

request shall be in writing, specify Borrower's intended use for the advance and be signed

by Borrower in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the "Advance Request"). The

Advance shall not be made on or after the Maturity Date, or after the occurrence of an Event

of Default which has not been cured. Borrower agrees that Lender may rely on the Advance

Request given by any person Lender reasonably believes is authorized to make such request

without the necessity of independent investigation.

4. No Other Changes. Except as explicitly amended by this Modification, all of the terms and

conditions of the Note shall remain in full force and effect and shall apply to any Advance or Letter of

Credit thereunder.

5.

follows:

Representations and Warranties. Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Lender as
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(a) Borrower has all requisite power and authority to execute this Modification and any

other agreements or instruments required hereunder and to perform all of its obligations hereunder, and this

Modification and all such other agreements and instruments has been duly executed and delivered by

Borrower and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable in accordance

with its terms.

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by Borrower of this Modification and any

other agreements or instruments required hereunder have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate

action and do not (i) require any authorization, consent or approval by any governmental department,

commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, (ii) violate any provision of any

law, rule or regulation or of any order, writ, injunction or decree presently in effect, having applicability to

Borrower, or the limited liability agreement of Borrower, or (iii) result in a breach of or constitute a default

under any indenture or loan or credit agreement or any other agreement, lease or instrument to which

Borrower is a party or by which it or its properties may be bound or affected.

(c) All of the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 of the Note are

correct on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of such date, except to the extent that such

representations and warranties relate solely to an earlier date.

(d) The execution and delivery of Warrant Agreement ill form and substance

satisfactory to Lender, in its sole discretion.

6. Origination Fee and Expenses. Borrower shall pay to Lender a fully earned and

nonrefundable origination fee in the amount of sixty thousand dollars ($60,000.00) (the "Origination Fee")

contemporaneously with Borrower's execution and delivery to Lender of this Modification.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Parties have agreed that the origination fee will be paid by funds at the

time of closing. Borrower's execution of this Modification shall constitute its agreement, regardless of

whether the Loan closes and funds, to pay upon demand all reasonable expenses in connection with the

Loan, including (without limitation) legal fees for the preparation, negotiation, examination and

enforcement of documents (including, without limitation, this Modification and any Ancillary Documents,

and all other fees and costs incidental to the closing and making of the Loan). Lender shall not be required

to pay any premium, brokerage fee, loan broker fee, commission or similar compensation in connection

with this transaction, and Borrower agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold Lender harmless from and

against all claims asserted by any person on account of any such fee, commission or compensation,

including attorneys' fees paid or incurred by Lender with respect to any such claim.

7. Conditions Precedent. The execution and performance of this Modification by Lender,

including the increased principal amount, is subject to the following conditions precedent:

(a) Execution by Borrower and delivery to Lender of this Modification and the Warrant

Agreement, in each case, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender.

(b) Execution by each of the Guarantors of the Agreement and Acknowledgement of

Guarantors attached hereto.

(c) Payment in full and in good funds of the Origination Fee.
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(d) The representations and warranties in Section 5 of this Modification shall be true and

correct as of the date of this Modification and any additional Advance.

(e) There shall have been no material adverse change, as determined by Lender, in the

financial condition or business of Borrower (or any guarantor hereunder), nor any material decline, as

determined by Lender, in the market value of any collateral required hereunder or a substantial or material

portion ofthe assets of Borrower(or any such guarantor).

8. References. All references in the Note to "this Secured Promissory Note" shall be deemed

to refer to the Note as amended hereby; and any and all references in the Loan Documents to the Note shall

be deemed to refer to the Note as amended hereby.

9. No Waiver. The execution of this Modification and the acceptance of all other agreements

and instruments related hereto shall not be deemed to be a waiver of any Default or Event of Default under

the Note or a waiver of any breach, default or event of default under any Loan Document.

10. Miscellaneous. This Modification and each of the Agreement and Acknowledgement of

Guarantors may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered

shall be deemed an original and all of which counterparts, taken together, shall constitute one and the same

instrument.

11. Statutory Notice. ORAL AGREEMENTS OR ORAL COMMITMENTS TO LOAN

MONEY, EXTEND CREDIT OR FORBEAR FROM ENFORCING REPAYMENT OF A DEBT

ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE UNDER WASHINGTON LAW.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Modification to be duly executed as

of the date first above written.

BORROWER: KCI INVESTMENTS, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company

By: Ken Antos

Its: Managing Member

Address: 4033 S. Dean Martin Drive

Las Vegas, NV 89103

LENDER: CBC PARTNERS I, LLC,

a Washingto imited liability company
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Address:

Facsimile:

Its: Authorized Manager Representative

305 1os" Ave NE

Suite 101

Bellevue, WA 98004

(425) 688-7003

PLTFS00800 AA0296



, SE(.'OND MODIFIC!\TION TO SECIJRED PROMIBSORY NOTE
, '

THIS SECOND MODiFICATION TO SECUREDPR()MISSORYNOTE (this ~'tvt!)difkation·~).
, , .

';effecti ve as of October 22~,2012. is entered into by and between KCl Investments.Ll.C, ,~',Nevada limited

liability company ("Borrower")., and cae PARTNERS 1, LLC, ~Wilshington limited liability C-onlfc"k'UlY, or

its assigns f'L,enuer';), "

RECITALS
. .' . .' ."

WHEREAS, Borrower is currently indebted toLenderpursuant to the terms and conditions of that

certain SecuredPromissory Note between Borrower and Lender dated as of June 22,20Q, as modified

pursuant to that firs.t Modiflcation to Secured Promissory Note dated as of July 19, 2012, and as furthe«

amended from time to time (as !l1od:ified,ilie "Note"). '
. . . . . . .

WHEREAS~Lender and Borrower haveagreed to certain changes in the terms and conditions set
forth in the Note and have agreed. to amend the Note to reflect said changes.

NnW, TIlERl~FORE; forvaluable consideration, the receipt and .sufficiency of which a-re'hereby

, acknowledged, the parties hereto agree that tlse Note shallbe amended as, follows:

L IncreaserlPrincipalAmount. 'The rnaximnm principal amountof the Note is hereby

amended to be Three Millior; Dollars ($3,000,000.00),

2., Amended Se<:tion 2.1" Section Ll ofthe Note is deletedin its entirety and replaced withthe

following;
, ,

2J Advance" 'Qn JlUW 25,2012, $JOO;OOOof the principai balance, of this '

Secured Promissory Note was advanced to Borrower. On July 19" 2012, an additional

, $l;7QO,OOOof the principal balance of this Secured Promissory Note was advanced to'

Borrower. Additional advances inanamoent ,not to exceed $f.OOO,QOO shall be-made as

follows:

(a) On Of before O(;to~r24,2{}12,Borrowermay request an additional advance. '
in an amount not to exceed $9'00,000; and '

". .

(b) ' AtBorrower's.request; Lender may, '211 'its-sole discretionIssue an additlonai

advance in an amount not to exceed $100,000, subject to av.ailability of ftmds.

Requests for additional advancesshall be in, writing, specify Borrower's jrtteflded use for

, each requested.advance and be: signed by Borrower in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A

(the "Advance, Request.'~)_ Advances shall not be made on or after the Maturity Date, or

after the occurrence ofa defaultor Even; of Default whk,h has not beencured or waived by

tender, any such waiver to be granted atLender's sole discretion. Borrower agrees that

Lender may rely on an)' Advance Requestgiven by any person Lender reasonably believes

is authorized to make such request without the necessity of independent investigation,

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary containedherein, the aggregate principal .amount '
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.of all advances made hereunder shallnotexceed Three Million Dollars ($J.£lOQ,OOQ:OO)at

anytime.

3. No Othet Changes. Except ~s -expHcitfy~unendedby this Mod ification, all of the termsand

'conditions of the Note' shaH remain in full force and effect and shall apply to any Advance or Letter of

Credit thereunder .

.Represen:taticms and Warranties. Borrower hereby represents and 'NarmntstoLender as4

followst

. (c) ,AU of the representations and warranties contained in Section, 4 of the Note .are

, correct.on and as of the date hereof as though made on and as of such .;1ate,exc.t.'Pt to the extent that such

representations and warranties relate solely to an e.vikr date.

5.' Origination, Fee aJld Expeilses. Borrower shall pay to' Lender a fully-earned and
nonrefundable ;:)riginatioH and arnendment feein the amount of thirty thousand doHars($30,OOO.OQ) (the

"Origination Fee")~(mtempor.'ilneously ,-vith Borrower's execution and delivery to Lender of this

i\·fodification. Notwith.standing the foregoing, the Partieshave agreed that the Origination Fee will be paid

by funds at the time of dosing, Borrower's exe-cution of this Modification shal] constiture it.'): agreement,

.regardlessof whether the: conditions precedent set forth in Section 6 below are satisfied, topay upon

demand an reasonable expenses in connection with this Ml.:xIific~tion and the Loan, including (without

limitation) legal fees. for the preparation, negotiation. examination and enforcement of documents

(including, without limitation, this Modification and any Ancillary Documentsexecuted Q[ delivered in

connection herewith, and an other fees and costs incidental to theclosing of this Modification and the ,

makingof the Loan), Lender shall not 'be- required to paYilny premium, brokerage fee, ioan broker fee,
commission or similar compensasion Inconnection whh this transaction, and Borrower agrees todefend,

indemnify, and hold Lenderharmless from andagainst an cl~jmsasserte-d ~y any person on account of any

such fee, comm ission or compensation. inclwlingattomeys' fees paid Of incurred by Lender with respect to

any such claim,

S5GSQ70;4
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. ". . .. .

.6_ Conditions Precedent. Theexecetionend performance of this 1v1Odificati0I1 by Lende{~"

including the increased principal amouuaissubjeet to the following conditions precedent: .

(a) Execufion by Borroweranddelivery to tender of this Modification, inform and

substance satisfactory to Lender,

(b) .Execntioeby Borrower and delivery to Lender 'ofa Wammt Agreement,' tOY
approximatd}! 1<5%of the.ownership of the Borrower, in form and substance satisfsctoryto Lender,

. (c)Ex:el;ut~on byeach of the Guarantorsof the Agreement and. A6hlowledgem~nt of

Guarantors attached hereto, '. .

(d) Payment in full and in good funds of the Odgi:nationFee ..

(e) The representations.and warranties in Section 5 ot'this Modificationsruin be true and .

correct as ofthe date of this Modification and any attdiiioBal Advance.

. (t). There shal] have been no material adyeF~chqnge, asdetermined by Lender, in the

financial condition orbusiness of Borrower (or any guarantorhereunder], nor any material decline, as

. determined by Lender, in the marker value of any collateralrequired hereunder or a snbstantial or material .

portion of t~ assets of Borrowen Of any such guaraator).

7. .. References.' AH references in the Note to "this SecaredPromissery Note" snail be deemed

to Teter to the Note as amended hereby: and any and all references In the Loan Documentsto the Note shall .
be deemed to refer to the Note as amendedhereby,

8. . . No Waiver.· The-execution of this Moditkau01J and th~. acceptance of all other agreements

and instruments relatedhereto shall not he deemed to be a waiver of any Default or Event of'Default under

the Note or a waiver of any breach, default or event of'defaul! under any Loan Document.

9, .. ' Miscellaneous, This Modj'fi<,:ation andeachof the .Agreemenr and Acknowledgement of .

Guarantors may be exeeuted in any number of couaterparts, eachof which when so executed and delivered

. shall be deeme-d (Ul. originaland all of which counterparts.jaken together, shall constitute oneand the same

instrument,
. .. .... . . . .... . . '. .

n. Statutory Notice. ORAL AGREEMENts OR ORAL COMMITMENTS TO LQAN
lVfONEY, EXTEND CREDIT OR FORBEAR FROMENl<~ORCThlG REPAYMEN-r OF A DEBT
ARE NOT ENFORCEABLE UNDER WASHINGTON LAW.

. .. . . . . '. . ". . . . . . . . . '. - . .' . .... .' . . '.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, theparties hereto have caused rhisModificationte be dulyexecuted as

of the date first above written.

BORROWER;
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LENDER:.

550S07l}.4

.Bv: Ken Antos." .
Its: Managing !y'lt:l;nber

Address: 4033 S. De-an MartinDrive

1.$ Vegas, NV 89103

. . John Otter ..ps: Authorized Manager Representative '.'

Address:' . 305WS!h Ave NE . . '" .' ..

. Suite 101

Bellevue, WA 98004
. Facsimile; (425) 688-7QO].

' ..
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TRAN 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

* * * * * 
 
 
SPANISH HEIGHTS ACQUISITION   ) 
COMPANY LLC,                  ) 
 )  

Plaintiffs,         )  CASE NO. A-20-813439-B 
           ) DEPT NO. XI 
vs. )     

) 
CBC PARTNERS I LLC,   )  
                              ) TRANSCRIPT OF 
                     )  PROCEEDINGS 
          Defendant.          ) 
                              ) 
AND RELATED PARTIES           ) 

 

 

BEFORE THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH GONZALEZ, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE 

THURSDAY, MAY 14, 2020 

HEARING RE:  PLAINTIFFS' APPLICATION FOR TEMPORARY  
  RESTRAINING ORDER AND MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY  
  INJUNCTION ON ORDER SHORTENING TIME  
      

 
APPEARANCES: 
 
 FOR THE PLAINTIFFS: JOSEPH A. GUTIERREZ, ESQ. 

DANIELLE J. BARRAZA, ESQ. 
 

 
 FOR CBC PARTNERS I: MICHAEL R. MUSHKIN, ESQ. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
RECORDED BY:  JILL HAWKINS, COURT RECORDER 
TRANSCRIBED BY:  JD REPORTING, INC. 
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253Closing argument for the Plaintiffs by Mr. Gutierrez 
 

256Closing argument for the Defense by Mr. Mushkin 
 

269Rebuttal argument for the Plaintiffs by Mr. Gutierrez 
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JAY BLOOM 
 

22Direct Examination by Mr. Gutierrez 
 

68Cross-Examination by Mr. Mushkin 
 

210Redirect Examination by Mr. Gutierrez 
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217Direct Examination by Mr. Gutierrez 
 

223Cross-Examination by Mr. Mushkin 
 

233Redirect Examination by Mr. Gutierrez 
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LAS VEGAS, CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA, MAY 14, 2020, 9:24 A.M. 

* * * * * 

THE COURT:  So I've got two motions that were filed

yesterday.  There's a motion for a protective order and a

motion to quash subpoena.  Does anybody want to discuss either

of those before we start?

MR. GUTIERREZ:  You've already sent out a minute

order, Judge.  So they're moot I believe.

THE COURT:  Only on the subpoena issue.  So if

that's -- if it's all covered by both of these steps -- because

I read them, and it seemed like there was still a lingering

issue, but we'll deal with it if it comes up.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Whatever you want, Judge.

THE COURT:  Okay.  So do you guys.

All right.  I'm going to go drink some more coffee,

and you guys let me know when we're ready to start.

(Proceedings recessed at 9:25 a.m., until 9:26 a.m.) 

MR. MUSHKIN:  Well, if we can't make it work --

THE COURT:  We can make it work.

MR. MUSHKIN:  -- we don't want to waste judicial

time.  I can have my client listen in, and --

THE COURT:  Can he listen until we fix it?

MR. MUSHKIN:  That was my point.

THE COURT:  Perfect.  Okay.  So we'll have him listen

while we wait for IT.
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relationship to defendant and CBC Partners?

A I am the chief credit officer.

Q And where is CBC Partners domiciled?

A Kirkland, Washington.

Q Is CBC Partners licensed to do business in Nevada?

A No.

Q I'm sorry.  It's a no?

A No.

Q Okay.  Is CBC Partners doing any business in Nevada?

A It's only through the origination of a loan to what

was called PRBI, Pacific brands -- Pacific Restaurant Brands.

And that was a restaurant domiciled in Nevada.

Q Mr. Hallberg, at some point, CBC Partners sold its

note in this transaction; correct?

A Yes.

Q When was that?

A The first couple days of April.

Q What exact date did you sell the note?

A I believe it was effective on the 1st.

Q The note was sold on April 1st, 2020; is that your

testimony?

A I say I believe it was sold.  I don't have it in

front of me.  I believe it was sold on April 1st.

Q Well, what document would you look to to refresh your

memory as to when exactly it was sold?
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A Purchase and sale agreement.

Q Who is the purchase and sale agreement to and from?

A It's with -- it's the address LLC.  I think it's 5248

LLC.

Q Would that be 5148 Spanish Heights LLC?

A Yes.  Yes.  5148.

Q How much did you sell the note for?

MR. MUSHKIN:  Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Relevance and privilege.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q You can answer.

A I don't have it in front of me.  It was I believe in

the 3.3 to 3.4 million range.

Q So CBC was paid between 3.3 to 3.4 million for its

note?

A Yes.

Q And CBC has accepted that money; correct?

A Yes.

Q And when was that money paid?

A The 1st week of April.

Q Okay.  Then why is CBC still attempting to foreclose

under its note?

A I'm not.
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MR. MUSHKIN:  Objection, Your Honor.  Assumes facts

not in evidence.

THE COURT:  Overruled.

You can answer.

THE WITNESS:  (No audible response.)

THE COURT:  You can answer, sir.

THE WITNESS:  I said I'm not.

THE COURT:  Oh.  Thank you.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Okay.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q So it's your testimony that CBC is not attempting to

foreclose at all under its note; correct?

A Correct.

Q And that's because CBC does not have note or own the

no anymore; isn't that true?

A We sold the note in early April.

Q Okay.  And CBC is also not trying to evict SJC

because -- from the premises; correct?

A Correct.

Q Okay.  So CBC is also not attempting to utilize the

exceptions in the governor's directive as a basis to continue

foreclosure or eviction; correct?

A Correct.

Q Okay.  Now, who purchased the note?

THE COURT:  He already told you that.
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MR. GUTIERREZ:  Oh, I'm sorry.

THE COURT:  That's asked and answered.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Who -- how are you --

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Your Honor, for the

objection.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q How were you introduced to 5148 Spanish Heights LLC?

A Through Ken Antos.

Q Okay.

A He was the original guarantor on the deal.

Q And who is the -- who is the owner of 5148 Spanish

Heights LLC?

A I don't know.  Mr. Mushkin is representing the

ownership of that LLC.

Q And, Mr. Hallberg, do you have the exhibits in front

of you?

A Some of them.

Q And do you have the -- you have Exhibit A in front of

you?  I just want to turn your attention to the Antos pledge

agreement on A, Exhibit A, page 81.

THE COURT:  Let us know when you found that, sir.

THE WITNESS:  Okay.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Do you have that in front of you?

A Yes.
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Q Okay.  And page 88 under this exhibit do you have

that in front of you?

A Yes.

Q Now, isn't it true that SJC Ventures is not a pledgor

under this contract?

A They're not on page 88.

Q Okay.  Do you have a signature line under this pledge

agreement for where SJC signed to pledge their interest?

A I have the acknowledgment of Spanish Heights, but not

SJVC.

Q And CBC Partners signed the security agreement on

Exhibit A, page 93; correct?

A Page 92, yes.  Well, which page?  The page 99

security agreement, yes.

Q Okay.  Is CBC -- are you contending that CBC is a --

has an ownership interest in SHAC as of today, or was that sold

as part of the note?

A That -- all of our rights were sold with the note.

Q Okay.  So all the rights that CBC had under this,

under these agreements have all been sold to another party at

5148 Spanish Heights LLC; correct?

A Yes.

Q And you don't know who that person is who owns that

company; correct?

A Correct.  I know they're represented by Mr. Mushkin.
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MR. GUTIERREZ:  Give me one second, Your Honor.

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Mr. Hallberg, why is CBC here objecting to the

preliminary injunction that's being requested by SHAC and SJC?

A I -- I just -- I don't see the need for it.  We're

actually out of the deal at this point.  From our perspective,

the forbearance agreement matured.  There was no payment made.

We had an offer to buy the note, and we sold it.

Q That goes back to my question:  Why is CBC objecting

to the injunction if it has no note?

A I don't know.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Pass the witness, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  Thank you.  Mr. Mushkin, you may examine

as your direct, if you'd like.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

CROSS-EXAMINATION 

BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Mr. Hallberg, will you state your name and address

for the record.

A Alan Hallberg, 19367, 132nd Street Southeast, Monroe,

Washington.

Q You've been listening all morning; is that fair?

A Yes.

Q And you heard Mr. Bloom testify?

A Yes.
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Q Do you believe that Mr. Bloom testified truthfully?

A No.

Q Say that again?

A No.

Q Let's go through, see if we can unwind some of this.

Give us a little bit of your educational background, please.

A A bachelor of science, finance concentration,

Georgetown University.

Q And you are the chief financial officer of CBC

Partners; correct?

A Chief credit officer; correct.

Q Sorry.  Chief credit officer.  I apologize.  CBC

Partners is, if you will, the management entity for CBC; is

that fair?

A Yes.  CBC Partners is the general partnership that

manages the fund which is CBC Partners 1.

Q Thank you.  And you had discussions with Mr. Bloom in

September, on or about September 17th of -- strike that -- on

or about September of 2017 regarding the pledge agreement; is

that correct?

A Yes.

Q And is it your understanding that the intent of the

pledge agreement was to pledge 100 percent of the units of

Spanish Heights Acquisition Company?

A Yes.
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Q And did you have any specific discussions with

Mr. Bloom regarding that pledge agreement?

A Yes.  The --

Q What did --

A -- we discussed it predraft, and the understanding

was, look, if this doesn't work out, which he had doubted that

it would even lead to this because he indicated that the

judgment claim would be paid very quickly.  He said, look, if

it turns out that the agreement matures, all you have to do is

enforce your rights under the pledge, and you own SHAC.

Q He specifically said that to you in '17?  2017?

A Yes.

Q I mean, in -- yes, in 2017.

A Yes.

Q Now, did you have subsequent discussions with

Mr. Bloom beginning in February of 2020?

A Yes, starting January, February, yes.

Q And tell me the nature of those discussions.

A I asked for updates on liquidity.  It did not look

like anything was going to happen prior to the maturity date in

March, the end of March.  I indicated that it would be tough

for us to extend beyond March 31.  I did not have any support

in credit committee.

Q And what did Mr. Bloom start to say to you at that

point?
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A He -- he asked me, well, what option do I have?  I

said, well, I can sell the note, and he indicated, well, you'll

get nothing for it.  And he also indicated he could just simply

declare bankruptcy.  And it would be better to work with him

and just extend it because he thought that liquidity would be

coming in by June.

Q And he wanted -- did he give you a specific date for

this liquidity event?

A I don't know off the top of my head, but, yes, it was

sometime in June, and it had to do with either the sale of tax

credits related to a bit coin mining operation on the Nevada

Arizona border and also a public offering, which is connected

to that operation, which was supposed to have been floated on

the London exchange.

Q And did any of that come true to your knowledge?

A No.

Q Did you ever receive evidence of a hundred thousand

dollars in repairs as required by the agreements?

A It was all verbal.  I did not see any of the

paperwork.

Q He never provided you anything?

A No.

Q Did you request it?

A At times I'd ask him to send invoices.  I did not get

any.
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Q Did you ever receive any of the property taxes due on

the property?

A No.

Q Did you ever receive the letter from his counsel

regarding the judgment collection process?

A No.

Q Did you instruct my office as a part of the closing

on the note to make the payments that were due for the months

leading up to the March 31st deadline of the forbearance

agreement?

A Yes.

Q And I can represent to you that we've admitted into

evidence some checks that were issued from my trust account.

Were those in fact directed to be issued by you?

A Yes.

Q To the best of your knowledge, all obligations of CBC

I have been met pursuant to the forbearance agreement?

A Yes.

Q You've seen the Bloom declaration in this matter; is

that correct?

A Yes.

Q Do you believe that his declaration was honest and

truthful?

A No.

Q So you've heard his testimony about there's this
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change in the documents that somehow he was not pledging SHAC,

and he was putting up the judgment.  Did you hear that

testimony?

A Yes, I did.

Q Was that truthful testimony?

A No.

Q In fact, it was always planned to have both the

pledge agreement and the security agreement; correct?

A Yes.  They're apples and oranges from a lender's

perspective.

Q And, in fact, they were executed the same day,

weren't they?

A Yes.

Q September 27th?

A [No audible response.]

Q So --

A Yes.

Q So do you -- is there any truth whatsoever to this

notion that a hundred percent of the units of SHAC were not

pledged?  It's your understanding that they were pledged; is

that correct?

A Yes, it is.

MR. MUSHKIN:  Sorry for that terrible question,

Judge.

/ / / 
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BY MR. MUSHKIN:  

Q Now, I want to real quickly go over the documents

that were entered into that illuminate this point, and I'm

going to go backwards.  So let's take a look at the amendment

to the forbearance agreement dated the 1st day of December

2019, which is Exhibit C.  Do you see that?

A I'm getting there.  Yes.

Q On 001, at the end of the very first paragraph, it

says that SJC Ventures LLC is a part collectively of the

parties; correct?

A Correct.

Q And it says at paragraph 9 on C003 that the

membership pledge agreement executed by SJCV and the Antos

Trust will remain in effect; correct?

A Correct.

Q Now, you've heard Mr. Bloom say that SJCV didn't

execute the pledge agreement; right?

A Yes, I heard that.

Q You don't believe that to be true, do you?

A No.

Q You just think that they put the wrong title on that

signature; right?

A That is correct.

Q And the pledge agreement specifically recites that

SJCV is pledging its stock; correct?

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

AA0488



230

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2020-05-14 

A Yes.

Q I'd like to direct your attention to C006,

paragraph 19.

A Okay.

Q And that paragraph says the Antos parties and the

SJCV parties represent they continue to acknowledge they

continue to pledge their stock in SHAC.  Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q And you understood that to be true?

A Yes.

Q And you relied upon that?

A Absolutely.

Q Okay.  Now, let's take a look at C007, paragraph

B1 in bold print:  Options to extend have terminated.  Do you

see that?

A Yes.

Q Was it your understanding that the lease was

extended, the consent that you had given, only to March 31st

of 2020?

A Yes.

Q And that the -- all other extensions had been

terminated, as stated in bold print?

A Yes.  My -- to be clear, my understanding was they

were extended.  My expectation was he would not have the

liquidity that was required on the maturity date, which would
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then lead to the extermination of the leases.

Q Thank you.

A To be clear.

Q And that right to terminate appears -- well, before

we get there, on page 9, you recognize that SJC Ventures has

signed this document; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And you relied upon their representation that their

stock was pledged; correct?

A Yes, I did.

Q Mr. Hallberg, you've seen the answer and counterclaim

in this case where 5148 now takes on a position in this case;

is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And they are successor in interest to CBC 1 as the

note; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And the assignment of interest of SHAC in fact went

to CBC Partners, not CBC I, and Mr. Otter is the managing

member of CBC Partners; correct?

A Yes.

Q And it is his intention to assign those rights to

whomever he is directed to by 5148; is that correct?

A That's correct.

Q But as of today, Mr. Otter, on behalf of CBC Partners
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is the holder of the Antos interest in SHAC; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q One last question:  The group of documents that

represent the closing package in the main are in Exhibit 1.

And I just want to go through these again, not individually but

collectively.  These documents were collectively delivered at

the closing; correct?

A Yes.

Q So there was always intended to be a pledge agreement

for a hundred percent of the units of SHAC; is that true?

A Yes.

Q And there was always intended to be a security

agreement in Mr. Bloom's judgment as additional collateral for

performance under the forbearance agreement; is that correct?

A Yes.  From -- and to clarify, from a lender's

perspective, the assignment of the judgment was to help repay

the obligation.  The pledge agreement was a remedy in case the

first part did not come through.  So those two work together,

but they're apples and oranges.

Q And the testimony that Mr. Bloom gave was not

truthful, was it?

A That's my belief, yes.

MR. GUTIERREZ:  Thank you, Your Honor.  No further

questions.

THE COURT:  Any redirect, Mr. Gutierrez?

 1

 2

 3

 4

 5

 6

 7

 8

 9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

AA0491



233

JD Reporting, Inc.

A-20-813439-B | SHAC v. CBC Partners | 2020-05-14 

REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

BY MR. GUTIERREZ:  

Q Mr. Hallberg, you stated that 5148 Spanish Heights

LLC is a party to this case.  Is that what you said?

A Yes, that's my belief.

Q Did they file a motion to intervene at any point on

this case?

A Sir, I don't know.  You're asking me a legal

question.  I'm here to talk about CBC's position up until the

point we sold the note.

Q Well, is CBC a related entity to 5148 Spanish

Heights?

A No.

Q Okay.  And the lawsuit initially was between SJC

Ventures and SHAC versus CBC Partners; correct?

A To my knowledge, yes.

Q Okay.  Now, you sold the note on April 1st, 2020.

Why is it that your counsel on April 3rd, 2020, in Exhibit N

is still sending letters out on behalf of CBC to vacate the

property for SJC?

A I don't know.

Q Turn to Exhibit N.  You've seen this letter on

Exhibit N; correct?

A Okay.  I see the exhibit.

Q And you authorized your counsel to send this letter
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out; correct?

A We did not talk about the letter before it went out.

Q Okay.  So you didn't authorize this letter to be sent

out on behalf of CBC Partners; is that what your testimony is?

A I did not authorize every letter.  I'm not saying

it's not correct.  I was allowing the attorney to work on our

behalf.

Q Go to Exhibit X.

A Right.  Hold on.

I'm sorry.  I'm not seeing Exhibit X.  Can you

describe it to me.

Q It's an April 8th, 2020, letter from Mr. Mushkin to

my office that is stating that the default notice will not be

withdrawn, and the foreclosure process will continue.  My

question to you is why was default notices still being sent on

behalf of CBC if it sold the note the week before?

A I don't know.  You know, I don't know.

Q Did you authorize this letter to go out?

A Not specifically, no.

Q Let's go to Exhibit C as in cat, page 7.  Okay.  And

on Section B1, the last sentence of this paragraph says:

The parties acknowledge that the

conditions to which CJCV options were subject

have been satisfied and that the SJCV options

have been exercised.
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